

TEACHING THE MIND...NOURISHING THE SOUL

2023 - 2024
PARENT – STUDENT
HANDBOOK

St. Joseph Catholic School provides students with a nurturing and prayerful learning environment committed to academic excellence, training missionary disciples to seek virtue, wisdom, and truth, in partnership with a community of active and faithful families.



St. Joseph Catholic school 2015 S.W. Green Oaks Boulevard Arlington, Texas 76017 (817)419-6800 www.stjosephtx.org

ACADEMIC YEAR 2023-2024

An Official Publication of St. Joseph Catholic School

Dear Parents and Students,

Welcome to St. Joseph Catholic School! We are truly honored that you have chosen to be part of our dynamic community. We feel you have made a great choice and we pledge to work in partnership with you to make your time here very rewarding.

This is the official St. Joseph Catholic School Parent-Student Handbook. It provides information, procedures, and policies that will serve to guide you as you move through the grade levels of the St. Joseph Catholic School community. Take the time as a family to please read this entire document carefully. You will need to sign the Record of Handbook Receipt (Diocesan School Handbook Acknowledgment Form) found under Web Forms in the Family Portal in FACTS SIS by the May 23rd deadline. By electronically signing the receipt, you and your child/children are agreeing to comply with this handbook.

The faculty and staff of St. Joseph Catholic School look forward to working with you to promote academic excellence and spiritual development, all to maximize your child's Godgiven skills and potential in the context of the teachings of our Catholic faith. May the transcendentals of Truth, Beauty, and Goodness always remain the lens through which we make decisions. Together, let us pray that God, having started this good work within us, may carry us through to completion.

In Christ's service,

Diane Price, Ed.L. Principal

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION	PAGE
Welcome	2
Table of Contents	3-4
Handbook Applicability	4
Calendar	5
Introduction and Covenant	6
Vision/Mission/Philosophy/Motto	7
Goals	7
Objectives/Our Story	8
Asbestos	9
Admissions	9-12
Notice of Non-Discrimination.	13
FACTS SIS	13
Student Participation in School Sponsored Activities	13
	13
Extracurricular Eligibility	13 14
Athletic Philosophy	14
Dress for Recess and Physical Education	15
Tuition	15
School Endorsements	15
Reporting Student Progress	15
Contacting Teachers	16
Service Hours.	16
Channels of Communication for Concern	16
Office Hours.	17
Homework Policy	17-19
Testing	19
Retention	19
Required Summer School	20
Excused and Unexcused Absences	20-21
Student Property	21
Tardiness	21
Required Organizational Skills	22
Uniforms	22-26
General Appearance and Grooming	26
Friday Shirt, Spirit Wear, and Special Occasions Dress Codes	27
Cafeteria	27
School Supplies	28
Classroom, Birthday, and School Parties	28
Drop-off/Pick-up/Walk-up Car Line Procedures	28
Before and After School Care/Campus Visitors	30
COVID-19 Concerns/Guidelines and General Health Concerns	30-33
Animals on Campus	33
Library	33
Field Trips.	33
School/Home Communications.	34

Bad Weather Closing Notification	34
Discipline/Behavior/Cell Phones	35-38
Violence	38
Conduct	39
School Logo	39
Textbooks	39
Early Dismissal for Illness at School	39
Religion Program	39
Curriculum	40
Wireless Network	40
Google Apps	40
School Telephones	41
Volunteers/Supervision of Students After School	41
Child Custody and Family Law Issues	41
Right to Amend and Copy of Diocesan Handbook Acknowledgment Form	42
Policies of the Diocese of Fort Worth	
Catholic Schools Office	43-60
Firearms and Weapons Policy	61
School Policies	62-68
Principal's Regulations	69-76
Daily Home-Based Symptom Screening for Students	76-78
COVID-19 Parental/Guardian Acknowledgement/Handbook Conclusion	78
Contact Us Page.	79

HANDBOOK APPLICABILITY:

This handbook is applicable to students, families, and teachers at St. Joseph Catholic School. *Parents are required to discuss this manual with their child(ren)*, sign the acknowledgement form and return it to the school office.

NOTICE: This handbook does not constitute a contract, expressed or implied, between any applicant, student/parent, or faculty/staff member and the school or Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth. The school reserves the right to change, alter, amend, discontinue, abolish, or depart from this handbook or any of the policies, rules, regulations, standards of conduct, protocols, services, programs, or activities within it at any time, without notice, at its discretion. The school provides the information herein solely for the convenience of the reader and, to the extent permissible by law, expressly disclaims any liability, which may otherwise be incurred.

School Calendar 2023-2024

Aug. 10 your teacher in your new classroom!	Back to School, Knight 2023!	Come spend some time in fellowship and meet
Student Holiday Dates Sept. 4 Sept. 15 Diocesan In-service Diocesan Diocesan In-service Diocesan	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Student Holidav Dates Student Holidav Dates Sept. 4 Labor Day	-	
Student Holiday Dates Sept. 4 Labor Day	·	*May 28 (or May 24 if snow day not used)
Sept. 4 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Nov. 20 – 24 Dec. 22 – Jan. 8 Jan. 15 Feb. 9 Mar. 11 – 15 Mar. 22 Mar. 29 Mar. 11 Apr. 26 May 10 Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.)/Development Days for School Faculty and Staff Faculty-Staff Workdays/Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Faculty-Staff Workdays/Diocesan In-service Day Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Jan. 28 Carbool Feb. 9 Mar. 21 Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan	Student Holiday Dates	
Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Nov. 20 – 24 Dec. 22 – Jan. 8 Jan. 15 Feb. 9 Mar. 11 – 15 Mar. 22 Mar. 29 Apr. 26 May 10 Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.) / Development Days for School Faculty and Staff Aug. 14 Aug. 14 Aug. 14 Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Arter school care (with the YMCA) is available on these days. No ECI service Day Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Jan. 28 Jan. 28 Jan. 28 Arer school Schools Week-Open House Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6	·	
Nov. 10 Nov. 20 – 24 Dec. 22 – Jan. 8 Jan. 15 Jan. 15 Feb. 9 Mar. 11 – 15 Mar. 22 Mar. 29 *Apr. 1 Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jocesan In-service Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Christmas Holiday Martin Luther King, Jr. Day Diocesan In-service Good Friday Easter Monday Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Aug. 15, Oct. 6 (Grandparents Day), Nov. 17, Dec. 21, Mar. 28, May 28 After school care (with the YMCA) is available on these days. No ECI service. Faculty-Staff Workdays/ Diocesan In-service Workdays Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service	Sept. 15	Diocesan In-service
Nov. 20 – 24 Dec. 22 – Jan. 8 Jan. 15 Feb. 9 Mar. 11 – 15 Mar. 22 Mar. 29 *Apr. 1 Apr. 26 May 10 Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.) / Development Days for School Faculty and Staff Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Jan. 28 Jan. 28 Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Apr. 26 May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Grade Level PK-8 Thanksgiving Break Christmas Holiday Martin Luther King, Jr. Day Diocesan In-service Spring Break Christmas Holiday Martin Luther King, Jr. Day Diocesan In-service Spring Break Christmas Holiday Martin Luther King, Jr. Day Diocesan In-service Spring Break Christmas Holiday Martin Luther King, Jr. Day Diocesan In-service Good Friday Diocesan In-service Good Friday Phonday Diocesan In-service Aug. 15, Oct. 6 (Grandparents Day), Nov. 17, Dec. 21, Mar. 28, May 28 After school care (with the YMCA) is available on these days. No ECI service. Faculty/Staff Workdays Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6	Oct. 13	Diocesan In-service
Dec. 22 – Jan. 8 Jan. 15 Feb. 9 Mar. 11 – 15 Mar. 22 Mar. 29 *Apr. 1 Apr. 26 May 10 Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.) / Development Days for School Faculty and Staff Faculty-Staff Workdays / Diocesan In-service Workdays July 31, Aug. 1 – 4, 7 – 11 Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Jan. 8 Joicesan In-service Day Mar. 22 Apr. 26 Diocesan In-service Day	Nov. 10	Diocesan In-service
Jan. 15 Feb. 9 Mar. 11 – 15 Mar. 22 Mar. 29 *Apr. 1 Apr. 26 May 10 Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.)/ Development Days for School Faculty and Staff Faculty-Staff Workdays/ Diocesan In-service Day Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Jan. 28 Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Apr. 26 Diocesan In-service Feb. 9 May 10 Martin Luther King, Jr. Day Diocesan In-service Good Friday Easter Monday Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Aug. 15, Oct. 6 (Grandparents Day), Nov. 17, Dec. 21, Mar. 28, May 28 After school care (with the YMCA) is available on these days. No ECI service. Faculty-Staff Workdays/ Diocesan In-service Day Dioc	Nov. 20 – 24	Thanksgiving Break
Feb. 9 Mar. 11 – 15 Mar. 22 Mar. 29 Apr. 26 May 10 Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.) / Development Davs for School Faculty and Staff Faculty-Staff Workdays / Diocesan In-service Workdays July 31, Aug. 1 – 4, 7 – 11 Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Jan. 28 Jan. 28 Jan. 28 Gorder Catholic Schools Week-Open House Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Apr. 26 May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Grade Level PK-8 Diocesan In-service Day Spring Break Diocesan In-service Good Friday Easter Monday Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Day	Dec. 22 – Jan. 8	Christmas Holiday
Mar. 11 – 15 Mar. 22 Mar. 29 *Apr. 1 Apr. 26 May 10 Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.)/ Development Days for School Faculty and Staff Faculty-Staff Workdays/ Diocesan In-service Workdays July 31, Aug. 1 – 4, 7 – 11 Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Jan. 28 Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Apr. 26 Diocesan In-service Day Mar. 22 Apr. 26 Diocesan In-service Day Mar. 22 Apr. 26 May 10 Catholic Schools Week-Open House Feb. 9 May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Grade Level PK-8 Spring Break Diocesan In-service Good Friday Easter Monday Diocesan In-service Day	Jan. 15	Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
Mar. 22 Mar. 29 *Apr. 1 Apr. 26 May 10 Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.) / Development Days for School Faculty and Staff Faculty-Staff Workdays / Diocesan In-service Workdays July 31, Aug. 1 – 4, 7 – 11 Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Jan. 28 Jan. 28 Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Apr. 26 May 10 Catholic Schools Week-Open House Feb. 9 Mar. 22 May 10 Conference Days May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Grade Level PK-8 Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Aug. 15, Oct. 6 (Grandparents Day), Nov. 17, Dec. 21, Mar. 28, May 28 After school care (with the YMCA) is available on these days. No ECI service. Faculty/Staff Workdays Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service	Feb. 9	Diocesan In-service Day
Mar. 29	Mar. 11 – 15	Spring Break
*Apr. 1 Apr. 26 May 10 Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.) / Development Days for School Faculty and Staff Faculty-Staff Workdays / Diocesan In-service Workdays July 31, Aug. 1 – 4, 7 – 11 Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 17, Dec. 21, Mar. 28, May 28 After school care (with the YMCA) is available on these days. No ECI service. Faculty-Staff Workdays / Diocesan In-service Workdays July 31, Aug. 1 – 4, 7 – 11 Aug. 14 Diocesan In-service Day Oct. 13 Diocesan In-service Day Catholic Schools Week-Open House Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6 Grade Level PK-8 PK-8 Student Early Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Day, Nov. 17, Dec. 21, Mar. 28, May 28 After school care (with the YMCA) is available on these days. No ECI service. Faculty-Staff Workdays Faculty-Staff Workdays After school care (with the YMCA) is available on these days. No ECI service. Faculty-Staff Workdays Fac	Mar. 22	Diocesan In-service
Apr. 26 May 10 Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.) / Development Days for School Faculty and Staff Faculty-Staff Workdays / Diocesan In-service Faculty-Staff Workdays / Diocesan In-service Workdays July 31, Aug. 1 – 4, 7 – 11 Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Day Jan. 8 Jan. 28 Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Apr. 26 May 10 Conference Days May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Grade Level PK-8 Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-s	Mar. 29	Good Friday
May 10 Diocesan In-service	*Apr. 1	Easter Monday
Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.) / Development Days for School Faculty and Staff	Apr. 26	Diocesan In-service
Nov. 17, Dec. 21, Mar. 28, May 28	May 10	Diocesan In-service
Nov. 17, Dec. 21, Mar. 28, May 28	Student Early Dismissal Days (12:00 p.m.) /	Aug. 15, Oct. 6 (Grandparents Day),
### These days. No ECI service. Faculty-Staff Workdays / Diocesan In-service Workdays	-	1
Faculty-Staff Workdays / Diocesan In-service Workdays July 31, Aug. 1 – 4, 7 – 11 Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Jan. 28 Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Apr. 26 May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Grade Level PK-8 PK-8 Faculty/Staff Workdays	for School Faculty and Staff	After school care (with the YMCA) is available on
Diocesan In-service WorkdaysJuly 31, Aug. 1 – 4, 7 – 11Faculty/Staff WorkdaysAug. 14Diocesan In-service DaySept. 15Diocesan In-service DayOct. 13Diocesan In-service DayNov. 10Diocesan In-service DayJan. 8Diocesan In-service DayJan. 28Catholic Schools Week-Open HouseFeb. 9Diocesan In-service DayMar. 22Diocesan In-service DayApr. 26Diocesan In-service DayMay 10Diocesan In-service DayConference DaysScheduled with teachers duringSept. 25 – Oct. 12the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 andOct. 6On half-day afternoon of Oct. 6Grade LevelSchool HoursPK-87:50 a.m. – 3:20 p.m.		these days. No ECI service.
Diocesan In-service WorkdaysJuly 31, Aug. 1 – 4, 7 – 11Faculty/Staff WorkdaysAug. 14Diocesan In-service DaySept. 15Diocesan In-service DayOct. 13Diocesan In-service DayNov. 10Diocesan In-service DayJan. 8Diocesan In-service DayJan. 28Catholic Schools Week-Open HouseFeb. 9Diocesan In-service DayMar. 22Diocesan In-service DayApr. 26Diocesan In-service DayMay 10Diocesan In-service DayConference DaysScheduled with teachers duringSept. 25 – Oct. 12the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 andOct. 6On half-day afternoon of Oct. 6Grade LevelSchool HoursPK-87:50 a.m. – 3:20 p.m.	Faculty-Staff Workdays /	
July 31, Aug. 1 – 4, 7 – 11 Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Jan. 28 Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Apr. 26 May 10 Conference Days May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Carade Level PK-8 PK-8 PK-8 PK-8 PK-8 Piocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6		
Aug. 14 Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Diocesan In-service Day Catholic Schools Week-Open House Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 The weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and Oct. 6 Carade Level PK-8 Diocesan In-service Day Dioc		Faculty/Staff Workdays
Sept. 15 Oct. 13 Diocesan In-service Day Catholic Schools Week-Open House Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Carade Level PK-8 Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during The weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and On half-day afternoon of Oct. 6	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Oct. 13 Nov. 10 Jan. 8 Diocesan In-service Day Catholic Schools Week-Open House Diocesan In-service Day May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during The weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and Oct. 6 Crade Level PK-8 School Hours 7:50 a.m. – 3:20 p.m.	Sept. 15	1
Jan. 8 Jan. 28 Catholic Schools Week-Open House Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Apr. 26 May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Grade Level PK-8 Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6	Oct. 13	Diocesan In-service Day
Jan. 28 Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Apr. 26 May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Grade Level PK-8 Catholic Schools Week-Open House Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6	Nov. 10	Diocesan In-service Day
Feb. 9 Mar. 22 Apr. 26 May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Grade Level PK-8 Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6	Jan. 8	Diocesan In-service Day
Mar. 22 Apr. 26 Diocesan In-service Day Diocesan In-service Day May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Crade Level PK-8 Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6 School Hours 7:50 a.m. – 3:20 p.m.	Jan. 28	Catholic Schools Week-Open House
Apr. 26	Feb. 9	Diocesan In-service Day
May 10 Conference Days Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 Oct. 6 Crade Level PK-8 Diocesan In-service Day Scheduled with teachers during the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6 School Hours 7:50 a.m. – 3:20 p.m.	Mar. 22	Diocesan In-service Day
Conference DaysScheduled with teachers duringSept. 25 – Oct. 12the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 andOct. 6on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6Grade LevelSchool HoursPK-87:50 a.m. – 3:20 p.m.	Apr. 26	Diocesan In-service Day
Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6 Grade Level PK-8 School Hours 7:50 a.m. – 3:20 p.m.	May 10	Diocesan In-service Day
Oct. 6 on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6 Grade Level School Hours PK-8 7:50 a.m. – 3:20 p.m.	Conference Days	Scheduled with teachers during
Grade Level PK-8 School Hours 7:50 a.m. – 3:20 p.m.	Sept. 25 – Oct. 12	the weeks of Sept. 25 – Oct. 12 and
PK-8 7:50 a.m. – 3:20 p.m.	Oct. 6	on half-day afternoon of Oct. 6
PK-8 7:50 a.m. – 3:20 p.m.	Grade Level	School Hours
Report Cards Oct. 14, Jan. 6, Mar. 24, *May 25		
	Report Cards	Oct. 14, Jan. 6, Mar. 24. *May 25
*Last day of school (sent home with student)		l • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
School Makeup Days (Snow Days) *First makeup day to be used: April 1	School Makeup Days (Snow Days)	•
*Second makeup day to be used: May 28		_ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

The 1st Quarter and 1st Semester begin the first day of the school year, August 15th. The 3rd Quarter and 2nd Semester begin January 9, 2024.

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this handbook is to detail the partnership undertaken between families and St. Joseph Catholic School. It is to acquaint parents and students with our school and to inform you of the policies, regulations and requirements that will govern your time at St. Joseph Catholic School. A good understanding of them will unite us all in our efforts to help each child in his/her intellectual, physical, spiritual, civic and religious growth.

COVENANT BETWEEN PARENTS AND ST. JOSEPH CATHOLIC SCHOOL

The Catechism of the Catholic Church states, "Parents have the first responsibility for the education of their children. They bear witness to this responsibility first by creating a home where tenderness, forgiveness, respect, fidelity, and disinterested service are the rule. The home is well suited for *education in the virtues*. This requires an apprenticeship in self-denial, sound judgment, and self-mastery - the preconditions of all true freedom. Parents should teach their children to subordinate the 'material and instinctual dimensions to interior and spiritual ones.' Parents have a grave responsibility to give good example to their children." (Paragraph 2223). As the primary educators of their children, parents have the awesome responsibility to raise them in the Catholic/Christian Faith. As Jesus modeled, parents are to be witnesses of the Gospel message and must continually be examples of love, kindness, respect, honesty and compassion. It is through the Christ-like actions of the parents, with the partnership of our parishes and St. Joseph Catholic School, that children develop a love for our Lord and grow to be good stewards of time, talent and treasure as adults. As the primary educators, this must be rolemodeled through parents' active involvement with their parish and school, and through their faith life both in and out of St. Joseph Catholic School. A personal relationship with Jesus Christ is nurtured and can grow as the family prays together, worships together, immerses themselves in the Christian faith, and if a Catholic Christian, to frequently receive Holy Communion and participate in the Holy Sacraments. The essential goals of a Catholic School education cannot be met without a Christian home environment, along with parental support and involvement. As parents of our students, you are called to partner with St. Joseph Catholic School by:

- If Catholic, celebrating Sunday Mass each week and all Holy Days of Obligation and regularly receiving Holy Communion and the Sacrament of Reconciliation
- Making regular financial contributions to your parish
- Following the policies in the SJCS Parent-Student Handbook
- Paying tuition and all other school fees on time
- Maintaining positive/respectful communication with the teachers and school administration
- Volunteering for various school and parish functions
- Instilling regular routines for schoolwork, mealtimes and bedtimes
- Promoting solid moral teaching
- Encouraging good study habits and making homework a priority
- Monitoring a child's use of a phone/computer and social media activity
- Spending time together as a family on a regular basis
- Teaching children to accept discipline, respect authority, and be obedient to God

VISION

Catholic schools in the Diocese of Fort Worth are committed to opening the doors so that our students can reach further than the walls that would otherwise enclose them and therefore are able to recognize and cherish the eternal and transcendental goods of Truth, Beauty, and Goodness.

MISSION

St. Joseph Catholic School provides students with a nurturing and prayerful learning environment committed to academic excellence, training missionary disciples to seek virtue, wisdom, and truth in partnership with a community of active and faithful families.

PHILOSOPHY

St. Joseph Catholic School offers a challenging curriculum steeped in Catholic tradition and delivered by innovative and dedicated teachers who hold high academic and behavioral standards. We will help to develop our next generation of Catholic and community leaders by respecting and celebrating the God-given differences in each and modeling stewardship through community service.

<u>*Motto*</u>

Teaching the Mind...Nourishing the Soul

GOALS

At St. Joseph Catholic School, our leading goal is to focus on *what* we teach and *how* we teach it, all in order to form students who possess the ability to *see* the world and discern what is good, true, and eternal, to then habitually set aside that which is false and harmful for their minds and souls to encounter Christ.

St. Joseph Catholic School strives to achieve the following ideals, as stated by the United States Conference of Catholic Bishops:

- We provide an atmosphere in which the Gospel message is proclaimed.
- Students experience community in Christ.
- Students serve their brothers and sisters.
- We cultivate thanksgiving and worship of God. Our highest expression of this is in the Eucharist.

OBJECTIVES

St. Joseph Catholic School seeks to form students in such a way that they demonstrate the following qualities:

Faith

- Students who love, keep and can defend the Catholic faith.
- ❖ Students who grow in learning and faith in Jesus Christ.
- ❖ Students who listen to God's call and follow it faithfully.

Social Justice

- Students who know the principles of Catholic Social Teaching.
- ❖ Students who can identify and correct problems with social justice.
- ❖ Students who understand the importance of service to others.

Academic Life

- ❖ Students who can reason and determine what is true and right.
- ❖ Students who are lifelong learners in pursuit of personal growth.
- **Students** who can analyze issues and solve problems independently.
- ❖ Students who can use high levels of critical thinking skills.
- **Students** who can write and express with confidence and eloquence.
- Students who have familiarity with foreign languages.
- **Students** who are prepared to enter high school.

Application to Life

- Students who communicate effectively.
- Students who lead others by example.
- **Students** who take initiative.
- Students who solve problems effectively.
- **Students** who interact with morality in a variety of social situations.
- Students who accept differences in others.
- Students who manage time well.
- **Students** who know how to apply what has been learned.
- **Students** who make decisions intelligently.
- Students who listen to others.
- **Students** who make the best of difficult situations.

OUR STORY

On Wednesday, August 16, 1995, the dreams and hopes of parents in South Arlington were realized when South Arlington Catholic School opened its doors on the grounds of St. Matthew Catholic Church. One hundred thirty-one students representing six parishes were enrolled to attend pre-kindergarten through second grade classes. With the Blessing of the Holy Spirit, the new facility was opened in 1997 and the name was changed in 1998 to Holy Rosary Catholic School. Early in 2000, Phase II construction was completed providing six additional classrooms, a computer and science laboratory, and a competition-size multipurpose facility named the Marian Center. Our Media Center/library has also been completed and we have reached our designed size envisioned by our founding families of two classes in each grade from Pre-K to 8th grade. On March 24, 2011, Bishop Kevin Vann signed a decree that established Holy Rosary as a parish school of St. Joseph Parish. The name of the school changed to St. Joseph Catholic School on July 1, 2012. The tradition of excellence in Catholic education continues.

ASBESTOS

To the best of our knowledge, St. Joseph Catholic School does not contain any identified asbestos-containing materials. All documentation regarding asbestos in St. Joseph Catholic School is maintained in the business office.

ADMISSIONS

5000 ADMISSION OF STUDENTS

It is a privilege and a grace to be educated in a Catholic school. The schools and the Diocese retain the right to disallow a student to attend, continue attending, or to re-enroll in a school. Any enrollment prior to the first day of school, including but not limited to advanced enrollment, pre-enrollment, or continuing enrollment of a student, is a conditional enrollment subject to review and termination by the school at any time. Prior to the first day of school, the school does not have to state the reasons, or have grounds, for revoking or denying a conditional enrollment of a student. The school does not have to state the reasons for denying enrollment of a student at any point during the year. The conduct of a student or a parent/guardian of the student (including any lifestyle, other conduct, or advocacy of a matter that is contrary to the Catholic faith or that may cause scandal, disruption, or confusion within the school community) may be grounds for the school revoking or denying the enrollment of a student at any time. All decisions of admission, including revocation of admission, are guided by the Catholic faith and are necessarily ecclesiastical in nature.

Students should not be denied admission to a Catholic school because of a disability unless the disability seriously impairs the student's ability to successfully complete the school's academic program or unless the school cannot provide sufficient care or provide reasonable accommodation for the student. The determination as to whether the school may provide reasonable accommodations for the student or applicant is made on a case-by-case basis. Under some circumstances, medically justifiable limitations may be placed on the admission/retention of students with infectious diseases and/or life-threatening illnesses.

International Students may be admitted in accordance with the requirements of the United States Department of Justice and the Department of Immigration and Naturalization. Students seeking admission under F-1 status must request an I 20 form from the Catholic Schools Office.

_

¹ Whether conduct of a parent/guardian or student (including lifestyle, other conduct, or advocacy of a matter contrary to the Catholic faith or that may cause scandal, disruption, or confusion within the school community) is disqualifying for enrollment purposes is a decision that will be made based on various factors. Not all conduct of the sort will necessarily result in disqualification from enrollment if the parent/guardian or student strives to live in accordance with the Catholic faith and complies with the mission policy. On the other hand, such conduct that is a rejection of Church teaching, whether explicitly or implicitly, may not necessarily be afforded leniency. Catholic schools in the Diocese of Fort Worth will exercise their responsibility to teach Catholic faith and morals in the fullness of truth and charity, especially as expressed in the *Catechism of the Catholic Church*, regardless of the views or wishes of the parent/guardian or student.

The enrollment or registration and attendance of a student at a Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth school constitutes an expressed agreement on the part of the student, as well as the student's parents/guardians, to comply with the school's policies and procedures and demonstrate commitment to the school's mission. Failure to read the material contained in the handbook does not excuse the student or the student's parents/guardians from responsibility for knowing and following the policies, procedures, and regulations in the handbook.

Students applying for admission must present a copy of the current report card and standardized test results. These will be reviewed to determine whether the program the school will meet the educational needs of the students. An interview with the student is part of the admission process. Testing in certain academic areas may be held for new, incoming students.

All new students will be given a probationary period of one semester. If during this probationary period there are any concerns, a student may be asked to withdraw from the school. The recommendation and decision of the school is final.

MISSON POLICY IN RELATION TO ADMISSIONS

Parents of students enrolling their children in a Catholic school must understand, affirm, and support the school's role and primary mission as guided by the teachings of the Catholic Church. Parents must acknowledge that they have read and understand, affirm, and support the expectations and the mission of the school as guided by the teachings of the Catholic Church. Parents or students who the school determines are not able to meet these expectations or support the mission of the school and teachings of the Catholic Church may not be admitted to the school. Students who are experiencing confusion regarding their sexual identity may be admitted as long as they are open to being accompanied and guided according to the Gospel as upheld in the teachings of the Catholic Church and will follow the mission and policies of the school. Any student whose gender has been legally changed from their biological sex, or who has chemically or surgically altered their God-given biology, may not be eligible for enrollment.

WITHDRAWAL

If at any time before or after admission the school believes that a student or parent/guardian of a student cannot accept the guidance and direction that is offered, is unwilling or unable to meet the expectations of admission, or is unwilling or unable to follow the Gospel as upheld in the teachings of the Catholic Church or the mission or policies of the school, then denial of enrollment, withdrawal, exclusion, or expulsion may be necessary. If a student or parent/guardian acts to legally change the student's gender or takes steps to chemically or surgically alter the student's God-given biological sex, then the student will be dismissed from the school, after the parent/guardian is first given the opportunity to withdraw the student from the school.

IMPLEMENTATION

PRIVILEGE

Being educated in a Catholic school is a grace and a privilege, not a right of the student. The conduct of a student or a parent/guardian of the student (including any lifestyle, other conduct, or advocacy of a matter that is contrary to the Catholic faith or that may cause scandal, disruption, or confusion within the school community) may cause the student to lose the privilege of attending a Catholic school.

Parishioners – Non-Parishioners

A parish school's admission policy should give preference to parishioners. Students from other parishes are to be admitted, if possible. Students of other religious beliefs may be admitted, if space permits.

AGE

Policies regarding age of entry are determined by the TCCBED policy, and the State of Texas. All dates refer to the year of the student's entry into a specific grade level.

- 3K: A child must attain the age of 3 on or before September 1st.
- 4K. A child must attain the age of 4 on or before September 1st.
- Kindergarten A child shall have attained the age of five (5) years on or before September 1st. This includes children who have been enrolled in pre-school programs, i.e. 3K and 4K. Participation in a school's 4K program does not ensure acceptance into Kindergarten.
- First Grade: A child shall have attained the age of six (6) years on or before September 1st.

The child's birth certificate shall be required for verification of age before he/she is enrolled. An exception may be made by the principal if children (1) have been enrolled in the first grade in another state prior to transferring to a school in Texas or (2) have attended a full school term in a Kindergarten program in another state that admits children who are under five years of age into the Kindergarten program.

The ability of a new student to achieve at a specific grade level, particularly when he/she is entering from a non-accredited school, shall be determined by conference with the parents and with the former teacher (if possible) and/or by the results of a standardized achievement test/evaluation which the receiving school administers.

End of this policy.

If new student applications exceed available openings during the registration dates, admission will be determined based on the following priority grouping:

- 1. Children of faculty members;
- 2. Returning students in good standing with the school;
- 3. Siblings of returning students;
- 4. Siblings of alumni;
- 5. Children living with guardians who have SJCS alumni;
- 6. Children of registered families of our seven supporting parishes who do not have a child or children in any other grade of the school;
- 7. Children of other Catholic families;
- 8. Children of non-Catholic families who share our values.

St. Joseph Catholic School accepts new students into 8th grade only after careful consideration of the student's potential for success at SJCS. A recommendation by the administration of the exiting school may be required, as well as other documentation that demonstrates the potential for the student's success.

Students transferring during the school year are accepted on a probationary status for their first semester, only after a family interview that is in addition to other admission requirements. Our intent is to ensure the success of the new student and the continued success of returning students.

<u>If accepted, all new students are placed on probationary status for the first semester.</u> During this time, students are to prove themselves both socially/behaviorally and academically. If during this trial period there are problems, a student may be asked to withdraw his/her attendance at St. Joseph Catholic School.

Classroom Needs

The Fort Worth Diocesan Schools will review the following information to determine how best to respond to a student's classroom needs:

- 1. A formal evaluation or documentation of a learning difference that has been made, preferably within the past three years. However, the schools may allow reasonable interventions even if the documentation is older than three years.
- 2. Demonstration of an educational need for reasonable interventions because the learning difference prevents or "substantially limits" a student's ability to progress or demonstrate mastery of skills.

Determination of an educational need may include the following:

- 1. A review of student history and/or reasonable interventions proven necessary for a student's progress in the past.
- 2. Teacher input and observation of a student's progress over a set period of time.
- 3. Supporting evidence that a student needs the reasonable interventions in order to meet minimum course requirements.

NOTICE OF NON-DISCRIMINATION

1240 NOTICE OF NON-DISCRIMINATORY POLICY AS TO STUDENTS

Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth schools admit students of any race, color, national, and ethnic origin to all the rights, privileges, programs, and activities generally accorded or made available to students at the school. It does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national and ethnic origin in administration of its educational policies, admissions policies, scholarship and loan programs, and athletic and other school-administered programs.

Religious educational institutions are exempt from Civil Rights legislation in the employment and enrollment of individuals of a particular religious persuasion. Preference in employment and admissions may be given to Catholic staff and students in the Catholic Schools of the Diocese.

FACTS SIS/FAMILY PORTAL

Parents and guardians of St. Joseph students are authorized to establish a free internet account with FACTS SIS. At this website, you are able to check grades, homework assignments (may change at teacher's discretion), record service hours, check the school calendar, and access many other functions. Please follow these steps to establish your account:

- 1. Enter www.factsmgt.com into your browser.
- 2. Click the Family Log In tab, then FACTS Family Portal.
- 3. Enter the District Code: SJC-TX.
- 4. Click the link for Create Family Portal Account.
- 5. Follow directions for setting up your own FACTS SIS account.

An e-mail from Renweb will be sent to your e-mail address with your password. After you receive your password, return to RenWeb, click on ParentsWeb Login." Complete the requested information to log in to your account.

STUDENT PARTICIPATION IN SCHOOL SPONSORED ACTIVITIES

Participation in many school-sponsored activities are privileges that must be earned. They are not rights. These activities include but are not limited to athletics, academics, parties, and field trips. Students earn these rights by meeting academic and behavioral expectations. Students who do not meet these expectations may not be allowed to participate in these and similar activities. The principle is that anytime a student is representing St. Joseph in word or deed, that student must as a minimum meet school standards.

EXTRACURRICULAR ELIGIBILITY

Students participating in extracurricular activities are considered to be in one of the following categories: eligible, on probation, or ineligible. A student is <u>eligible</u> to participate when his/her grades are 76% or higher and he/she demonstrates good conduct. A student is <u>ineligible</u> if any grade is 69% or lower and/or his/her conduct does not meet expectations. A student is on <u>probation</u> if any grade is between 70%-75% or he/she receives an N in the conduct portion of the report card. A student's eligibility status is reviewed at the next report card/progress report time

and the start of a sport's season. The extracurricular eligibility requirement applies any time an activity is sponsored by St. Joseph, or a student wears the St. Joseph uniform or requires administrative approval to participate in any event such as a tournament or competition. Ineligible students may not participate in either games or practices.

Parents are urged to keep track of their child(ren)'s grades on FACTS SIS at all times.

ATHLETIC COACHES

The administration reserves the right to approve all coaches and assistant coaches of athletic teams sponsored by the school. Coaches/assistant coaches must apply in writing to the athletic coordinator for permission to coach. The athletic coordinator will conduct an orientation for coaches and then give approval to coach to those adults that have been determined can best satisfy the athletic philosophy of the school and the diocese. All coaches and assistant coaches must have a background check. Coaches must attend Safe Environment Program training when offered as a condition for coaching. Coaches are expected to understand and implement the diocesan athletic philosophy and participate in training for *Play Like A Champion Today*. A coach may be removed from duties at the discretion of administration.

ATHLETIC PHILOSOPHY

As our school continues to compete in the Diocesan sports league, it is important that each of you understands the school's athletic philosophy. This philosophy guides our thinking. If you know what it is, it is easier to understand why certain decisions are made.

Athletics are an important part of our school program. They help promote good health, instill confidence, and develop athletic skills. The idea and value of teamwork is learned. Teamwork and confidence are transferable skills that will help students be successful in the classroom today and in the future business world. Positive athletic experiences that are gained at school lead to lifelong interests in certain sports.

Competition and pressure to succeed is natural and it can be a positive experience if handled in an appropriate manner. However, if the competition and pressure that is inherent with athletics is not handled in an appropriate manner, it can have a very negative impact on children. Too much pressure from adults to win is not healthy and can negate most or all of the benefits of athletics.

The world is full of pressure. If we never said anything to our children about having to win, having to achieve all "A's," having to be the best player, having to be the head cheerleader, and having to do certain things in order to be the most popular person in the class, our children would still be under enormous pressure to succeed. This pressure comes from many places outside the family. It comes from society where children are expected to be a certain way. It comes from peer pressure where other children will expect your child to do certain things in order to be "in." It comes from the media. When you have told your children that you want them to accomplish a specific goal and they fall short of your expectations, they are devastated. They feel that they are not worthy of your love and all the things you do for them. For example, if you tell a child that their team must win and they don't win then you have created this problem. It is much better to tell them that you want them to do their best. After the game and regardless of results, you ask if they did their best and if they say yes, tell them how proud you are of them. Then they are motivated to work hard and they are still able to maintain their self-esteem even when they don't win. Your child's mental health will be much better.

We participate in the Diocesan Sports League, which emphasizes the recreational aspects of athletics. It is not a competitive or select league. Its purpose is to teach skills, have fun, and to learn sportsmanship. This means that we prepare our athletes to compete to the best of their ability. We ask them to play hard and fairly. Everyone gets to play. We emphasize what they can do and we don't emphasize what they can't do. We want to lift them up, not put them down. Step back and look at the big picture for a moment. We need to remind ourselves that few if any of our students will make any money as athletes.

DRESS FOR RECESS AND PHYSICAL EDUCATION

Students are expected to dress properly to go outside for recess. If a student is unable to go outside for recess or participate in physical education (P.E.) because of medical reasons, a written note from the parent is required stating the reasons that you do not want your child to participate in recess or P.E. On the beginning of the third consecutive day, a doctor's note is required to continue to be excused from recess and/or P.E. All notes should be given to the nurse who will notify the appropriate teachers (P.E., classroom).

TUITION

The prompt payment of tuition facilitates the sound financial operations of our school. Therefore, it is necessary that parents be faithful in meeting their financial obligations.

A FACTS payment plan must be in place for the upcoming school year by May 15th. Payment can be made in a lump sum, or in a ten-month installment.

It is the responsibility of the parents to notify the school administration of temporary financial difficulties so that a financial arrangement may be agreed upon with the administration.

Unless financial obligations are satisfied promptly, the child/children may not be allowed to continue as students at St. Joseph Catholic School.

St. Joseph Catholic School reserves the right to withhold official student records until the payment of tuition, fees, and other financial responsibilities are satisfactorily fulfilled.

SCHOOL ENDORSEMENTS

Occasionally during the school year, SJCS sends home flyers advertising various events, services and items that are available to our school population. The inclusion of these flyers does not constitute an endorsement of the event, service or item by the school. Our intent is to provide information for you to evaluate and use as you determine appropriate.

REPORTING STUDENT PROGRESS

Report cards are issued quarterly. The reporting code is:

A (94 - 100)	Outstanding Progress
B (86 - 93)	Good Progress
C (76 - 85)	Acceptable Progress
D (70 - 75)	Limited Progress
F (Below 70)	Unsatisfactory Progress
S =	Satisfactory
N =	Needs Improvement

U = Unsatisfactory

S, N, and U shall be given for Religion and Handwriting through grade 5; and for Phonics through grade 2.

S, N, and U shall be given for Music, Art, P.E., and Computers in all grades, and Spanish/Latin for grades PK-5.

Numerical grades will be given in grades one through eight except for those classes listed above that receive an S, N, and U.

Report cards will be E-mailed at the end of each quarter. Hard copy report cards will be available in the school office at the end of the academic year. Report card issue dates are listed in the school calendar.

CONTACTING TEACHERS

Teachers work very long hours in order to serve our families and students. Each of them has a life outside of school. Please respect their privacy and personal time. Contact them on school matters only at school. Call them at school or email them at school to discuss your child. Teachers are not required to discuss business with parents while they are at home. There is ample time to do this during the school day.

SERVICE HOURS

Families are required to perform 40 hours of service to St. Joseph Catholic School each school year. The service year runs from May 1 to April 30. The school policy dictates the monetary amount each service hour is worth. Service hours that are not performed will be billed at this amount. Bills will normally be sent in May and must be paid before school records such as report cards are provided. Service hours are recorded on FACTS SIS (Click Family Portal tab, then Service Hours tab).

CHANNELS OF COMMUNICATION FOR CONCERN

- 1. Contact the teacher regarding questions about instruction, discipline, learning materials, class work, or homework. The principal will not discuss teacher-related situations with parents until the parent has contacted the teacher and attempted to resolve/discuss the problem.
- 2. The school employs a counselor who may be contacted by the parent directly or through the child's teacher.
- 3. Contact the principal regarding questions about school procedures and day-to-day operations of the school.
- 4. Contact the Advisory Council concerning policies, long range planning, and announced tuition schedules. The council does not become involved in the day-to-day administration of the school.
- 5. Any grievance that is not satisfied in one of the above three procedures will be handled in accordance with Diocesan policy.

NOTE: The Catholic Schools Office at the Diocese of Fort Worth is not involved in the day-to-day administration of the school. The teacher will never question your authority as a parent. Never, under any circumstances, question the authority of a teacher when your child is present.

Parents cannot expect the school to be effective in communicating Christian values if these values are not lived at home. Children lose respect for their school and the faculty when they listen to parents speak adversely or negatively about the school and the parish community. St. Joseph Catholic School families are expected to live as mature Christians and to shun gossip in all of its forms. Constructive criticism of the school is welcome when it is motivated by a sincere desire to improve the quality of the educational program and to equip the school to perform its task more effectively. Any misunderstanding that arises should be presented to the teacher first, when it pertains to his/her class and then to the principal.

OFFICE HOURS

The school office hours are from 7:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. weekdays. On early dismissal days, the office will be open from 7:30 a.m. until 12:30 p.m. At any other time, a parent may leave a message on the answering machine.

HOMEWORK POLICY/PHILOSOPHY

The homework policy for St. Joseph Catholic School is intended to guide both parents and teachers so that students will be academically successful. It is essential that both the school and home work together closely in this area. Our mutual goal is to help students be academically successful and to minimize frustration. Everyone – administrators, teachers, parents and students – has a role to play in this process. By working together, we will be successful.

Philosophical foundation: Homework is an important aspect of the educational experience at St. Joseph. Students who are required to do homework are better students. Schools that assign homework are better schools. However, this notion must be tempered by the realization that students deserve the opportunity to have a meaningful childhood. This means that their focus after school should not be totally on the completion of homework. They need time to play and participate in other organized activities. The emphasis is on achieving a reasonable balance between homework and play.

Definition: Homework is a task assigned by teachers to students that is to be completed typically during non-school hours. Examples of homework include but are not limited to:

- 1. Assignments at the end of chapters, sections, and lessons in textbooks;
- 2. Memorization/Recitation exercises:
- 3. Practice sheets:
- 4. Workbook pages;
- 5. Study assignments (tests, quizzes);
- 6. Reading (academic and recreational);
- 7. Long term projects (more than one day);
- 8. Written assignments (book reports) or essays.

Purpose: Following are reasons that homework is assigned:

- 1. To evaluate if the students understood the instruction.
- 2. To evaluate the effectiveness of the teaching that was done.

- 3. To practice skills.
- 4. To prepare for future classroom instruction.

Research: Educational research provides some interesting insights into the validity of homework.

- 1. Students who spend more time on regularly assigned, meaningful homework generally do better in school. The academic benefits of homework increase as children move into the upper grades.
- 2. When homework is turned in to the teacher, accounted for in some manner such as grading, and discussed with students, it can improve students' grades and understanding of the schoolwork.
- 3. American children on average spend far more time watching television than they do completing homework.
- 4. Research shows that the primary grades (K-2) should have a small amount of homework, elementary grades (3-5) should spend more time on homework, and that the upper elementary grades (6-8) should spend the most time on homework in an elementary school. None of the research agrees on what constitutes an appropriate amount of homework that should be assigned for each grade. This is much more dependent upon the characteristics of each school.
- 5. The amount of homework is not as important as the frequency of the homework. In other words, it is better to give a 5-minute homework assignment in a given subject each day, than to give a 25-minute assignment in the same subject once a week. However, homework does not need to be given every day in every subject unless it has a specific purpose. We do not give homework for the sake of giving homework.

Assignments: A good assignment will have the following characteristics.

- 1. It will have a specific purpose such as:
 - a. Review/practice what is learned.
 - b. To prepare for the next class.
 - c. To learn to use resources (library, reference materials, etc.)
 - d. To explore subjects more fully than you can in class.
- 2. The assignment has clear instructions and the teacher verifies that the instructions are understood before students leave the classroom.
- 3. The assignment is fairly well matched to the entire classes' abilities.
- 4. It is designed to develop skills and knowledge.
- 5. An average student will be able to complete all daily assignments close to the target homework time.
- 6. Assignments will not be given in lieu of teaching.

Parents: Parents can demonstrate to students that homework and school is important and they can assist in the homework process by:

- 1. Establishing a regular homework time.
- 2. Having a designated homework location that has workspace, good lighting, and minimizes distractions.
- 3. Identifying supplies and resources (paper, pencils, dictionaries, etc).
- 4. Setting a good example by reading and writing.
- 5. Showing an interest in the homework your child is doing.
- 6. Monitor task completion.
- 7. Read the assignment book daily and sign it.
- 8. Sign tests and homework when requested by the teacher.

- 9. Provide enrichment activities.
- 10. Tutor specific skills when required by the student.
- 11. Help the student study for a test.
- 12. Give consequences when homework is not completed.

Time: Following is the amount of time that should be spent on homework by grades. It is emphasized that these estimations are the amount of time that an average student should spend on the homework if they remain focused. Obviously, it will take even the average student longer to do the assigned homework if they frequently get drinks, go to the bathroom, and stop to see what is on television and so on. Some students will be able to complete their homework more quickly than the estimated time, while other students will take longer than the estimated time to complete their homework. Overall student ability will impact the time necessary to complete assignments.

Some assignments such as research projects, building displays and so on will be assigned over a longer period of time. They are not intended to be accomplished in one evening. Time must be allotted periodically (every other day, every third day, etc) for the completion of these projects.

St. Joseph will use the 10-minute rule to assign homework. For example, a student in 3rd grade can expect to complete 30 minutes of homework each evening (3 times 10) and a student in 6th grade can expect to do 60 minutes of homework each evening (6 times 10) - a total of 300 minutes per week. Recreational reading, studying for tests, and long-term projects should be included in these time periods.

Disabilities: Students with learning disabilities that are documented by a professional and are on file at school could have accommodations made to their homework assignments by the teacher if necessary.

Assignment Books: Homework assignments should be written in student assignment books. Because teachers' lesson plans may vary during the week based on students' learning needs, FACTS SIS is not the primary means of communicating homework assignments. **Parents should always refer to the assignment book for the most up to date homework assignments.**

TESTING

Standardized tests are given each year in grades 3rd - 8th. When the results are returned to the school, an individual report on each child is made available for the parents.

RETENTION

Students may not be retained more than once per grade and not more than twice in elementary school. Generally, students should be identified and retained in the lowest grade possible so that their academic foundation can be strengthened before moving on to the parts of the curriculum that require higher level thinking skills. Students in primary grades will be considered for retention if they do not have sufficient mastery of language art skills or if they are not mature enough to benefit from attending the next higher grade. Students in grades 3-8 will be considered for retention if they fail two or more classes for the entire year and retention could reasonably be expected to improve their academic performance.

Students may be required to be tested for a learning disability if in the opinion of the teacher and administration it is warranted by their academic performance.

Administrative retention procedures: The teacher is the key to the retention process. If parents desire to retain the student, they will communicate their desires to the teacher. If a teacher determines that retention is warranted, the teacher will coordinate with the parents. In both cases the final retention decision resides with the administration.

In all retention cases, the teacher prior to the close of registration in February must identify students who may be retained to the principal in writing. The purpose is so that available class slots may be reserved in the event that the decision is made to retain.

REQUIRED SUMMER SCHOOL

In some cases, retention is not appropriate, but in the opinion of the administration, student progress could be enhanced by additional academic endeavor. Students with excessive absences are also a concern. In these situations, students may be required to attend summer school in designated subjects and provide evidence of progress as a condition to returning. The school reserves the right to decide which summer school is acceptable. Students who do not attend summer school as directed may not be accepted for admission the following year. If summer school is the desired course of action, the teacher will discuss this with the principal who in turn will send a summer school requirement letter to the parents.

EXCUSED AND UNEXCUSED ABSENCES

A student is either absent from school or present. This status is documented on the report card. Administratively, absences are designated as either excused or unexcused. Excused absences are made for immediate family emergencies (e.g., death of an immediate family member), an extended sickness, or other reasons acceptable to the administration. All other absences are unexcused. The excused/unexcused designation is made so that the teacher will know how to treat the homework for the absent student. State compulsory attendance laws states that students may not miss more than 10 percent of scheduled school days. For St. Joseph, that is 18 days. Excessive absences may result in consequences, including being required to make up the school days after the normal school year.

EXCUSED ABSENCES

Excused absences are generally for sickness, family emergencies that are death or serious illness of immediate family members, or other reasons acceptable to the Administration. If a child is absent, parents must call or e-mail the school office before 9:00 am to inform the administration of the nature of the absence. Work for students may be requested at that time. It will be in the office at 3:00 p.m. A physician's written excuse is required when the child has been absent 5 consecutive days or more.

Students are expected to complete work that has been missed. The student has one day for every day absent to make up work starting with the day the student returns to school. It is the student's responsibility to contact the teacher for make-up assignments. Students with an excessive number of absences (18) or tardies (16) will be contacted by the principal and may be subject to disciplinary action in accordance with school and Diocesan policy.

Medical, dental appointments, etc. are to be scheduled outside school time as much as possible. Exceptions may be made if absolutely necessary but, in many cases, the child will miss important instruction.

Students must be in attendance a minimum of two hours in the morning and two hours in the afternoon to be considered present for the day. One half-day absence will be annotated on the report card. See Principal Regulation #8 for additional information.

Students who are absent from school in the afternoon because of illness or unexcused absence may not participate in after school extracurricular activities that occur that evening only. For example, a student who is absent Friday afternoon because of sickness may not participate in extracurricular activities on Friday evening.

UNEXCUSED ABSENCES

A major goal of any school is to teach responsibility to the student. Students should not be out of school for family vacations, scout trips, ski trips, visits to Disney Land and so on. These are examples of unexcused absences. If a parent believes that a student should miss school for any reason other than illness, family emergency, or other reasons acceptable to school administration, the parent must complete an *Absenteeism Notification Form* (available in the office) in advance. This request is submitted to administration for approval and designation as an excused or unexcused absence.

Parents who choose to take students out of class for any reason other than illness, death in the immediate family, or other reasons acceptable to school administration must realize that students are ultimately responsible for the work missed, and forfeit any teacher explanations, quizzes, tests, etc. which are given during their absence. Teachers are not responsible for bringing students up to date on content during the student's unexcused absence. Homework that would have been submitted on an unexcused day of absence will not be accepted and will be given an "N/A" in the teacher's grade book. All work done on an unexcused day of absence will be given an "N/A". When the student returns from an unexcused absence, the teacher will provide a list of assignments, copies of work sheets and other similar items that the student missed. The family is responsible for teaching this material to the student and completing the other requirements so that the student is current with the other students. At the teacher's discretion, quizzes and tests that were missed during the unexcused absence may be given for grades as well as diagnostic purposes to determine if the concepts and content that was missed has been mastered. This evaluation may start on the second full day after return or later as determined by the teacher.

Parents need to ask themselves if school or other activities are the family priority. You communicate the importance of school to your children by the reason you allow your children to be absent.

STUDENT PROPERTY

Any item brought onto school property, including, but not limited to cell phones or other electronic devices, is subject to inspection or search by the school administration. School lockers are the property of the school and may be searched at any time. Students are discouraged from having toys or expensive items at school. Items such as these can be easily lost or damaged. The school is not responsible for these damages or losses.

TARDINESS

Students are expected to be in the classroom by 7:50 a.m. A child is considered tardy after the 7:50 a.m. bell has sounded. Students may enter the school between 7:20 and 7:30 a.m. and are go to the Art Room where they will be supervised until the 7:30 a.m. bell. Children arriving earlier than 7:20 a.m. will be counted in Before Care and a fee will be assessed. If you do not want to

pay the Before Care fee, please do not bring students to school before 7:20 a.m. The faculty and staff have been instructed to send those who arrive early to Before Care in the office.

A student is considered to be excessively tardy when he/she has 16 or more tardies for the entire academic year or more than four (4) tardies per quarter. Excessive tardies will be documented on the report card (Arrives to Class on Time.)

S = 0-4 Tardies N = 5-9 Tardies U = 10 or more Tardies

Tardiness is disruptive to the class as a whole and teaches poor life habits to the child who is perpetually tardy. This is a serious matter. Additionally, the administration reserves the right to impose additional sanctions up to and including a financial impact, an academic impact and denial of admission for subsequent school years. Tardiness will ordinarily be unexcused (except for emergency situations) and work missed will not be given credit. This policy will be relaxed during adverse weather as determined by the administration.

REQUIRED ORGANIZATIONAL SKILLS

It is important that students be organized. Organizational skills are learned. Therefore, we have implemented a uniform organizational program for 2nd through 8th grades. It is imperative that parents assist in this effort by adhering to the following guidelines:

- The Expanding Wallet/Folder will be taken home daily with the assignment book inside to be signed by a parent.
 - Teachers will monitor parents signing the assignment book.
- Assignment books should be out and on desk during the day, for students as well as teachers, to write in at a moment's notice for minimal disruption of time. Pages should be dated daily for documentation purposes. Under no circumstances should pages be torn out.
- Teachers will give specific notice that it is time to write assignments in the assignment book either from the board or orally with monitoring by the teacher.
- All students should have supplies in a sturdy zipper bag and not loose in desk or lockers, with the exception of what they are using at the moment.
- It is suggested that items such as rulers, glue, scissors, etc. be maintained in the room as a class set whenever possible.
- Spiral Notebooks will be used for note taking purposes and daily non-graded assignments. Students should date and head their note pages. (Examples: 8/15/2023 Chapter 7 Notes or page 233 #1-20)

Parents should monitor their child's organization on a regular basis. Organization will naturally lead to better grades, accountability, and more positive self-esteem.

UNIFORMS

All students should take pride in the St. Joseph Catholic School uniform and remember they represent their school when seen in uniform. One's clothing reflects attitude and attitude dictates behavior. <u>Uniforms and all shoes must be purchased at Mills Uniform Company in Fort Worth.</u> If for some reason Mills cannot provide the correct shoe size or is low in stock, another store may be used to purchase the required shoes.

All students are expected to comply with the uniform dress code. If there is a question concerning the acceptability of the attire, it should not be worn. Any faculty member may question whether attire is acceptable and reflects the intent of the dress standard. In all cases the interpretation remains with the administration. If a student is not in proper uniform the first time, the student will be warned and the parent or guardian will be notified by E-mail through Renweb. The second time, the student will call his/her parent or guardian to bring the proper uniform to school or the student may be required to wear a school-provided uniform. The third time, the student may be sent home. Unauthorized items such as jewelry will be taken by the teacher and given to the parent.

Required uniform <u>must</u> be worn on <u>all Mass days</u> and other specified days. Each student must have a required uniform.

<u>Girls' Shoes</u>: All St. Joseph uniform shoes are to be purchased through Mills Uniform Company, unless Mills cannot provide the shoe or shoe size. Shoes are listed below to choose:

Preschool – Kindergarten:

Saucony Cohesion Velcro or Lace-up Athletic Shoes in white or black

1st Grade – 5th Grade:

Saucony Cohesion Lace-up Athletic Shoes in white or black, or New Balance Athletic Lace Shoes in white or black

Keds Girl's Leather Saddle Oxford Lace-up shoes in white and navy

6th Grade – 8th Grade:

Saucony Cohesion Lace-up Athletic Shoes in white or black, or New Balance Athletic Lace Shoes in white or black

Women's New Balance Athletic Lace-up Shoes in white or black

Women's Leather Saddle Oxford Lace-up shoes in white and navy

Women's Sperry Koifish Shoes in tan

Boys' Shoes: All St. Joseph uniform shoes are to be purchased through Mills Uniform Company, unless Mills cannot provide the shoe or shoe size. Shoes are listed below to choose:

Preschool – Kindergarten:

Saucony Cohesion Velcro or Lace-up Athletic Shoes in white or black

1st Grade – 5th Grade:

Saucony Cohesion Lace-up Athletic Shoes in white or black, or New Balance Athletic Lace Shoes in white or black

6th Grade – 8th Grade:2000

Saucony Cohesion Lace-up Athletic Shoes in white or black, or New Balance Athletic Lace Shoes in white or black

Men's New Balance Athletic Lace-up Shoes in white or black

Men's Sperry Billfish Shoes in tan

<u>Socks and Tights:</u> Socks must be worn with shoes. For girls, the options are knee-high socks or crew socks. Tights are allowed. Girls will wear the colors of solid black, solid navy blue, or solid white. No-show socks are not allowed. Ankle socks are not allowed. Logos are not

allowed. For boys, they are to be crew socks. Boys will wear the colors of solid black, solid navy blue, or solid white. No-show socks are not allowed. Ankle socks are not allowed. Logos are not allowed. The required uniform is described as follows:

The REQUIRED uniform for Pre-K through 5th Grade:

Girls: Tunic jumper with white Peter-Pan blouse (long or short-sleeve)

Shoes purchased at Mills Uniform Company from the SJCS approved list Knee-high, crew, or tights (solid black, solid navy blue, or solid white)

Navy cardigan sweater

Navy stretch modesty short for under jumper

<u>Boys</u>: White oxford shirt (long or short-sleeve)

Navy flat-front pants (Pre-K and Kindergarten may choose full elastic waist or belt loop waist)

Black, navy or brown belt (must be worn with loops)

Shoes purchased at Mills Uniform Company from the SJCS approved list

Crew socks (solid black, solid navy, or solid white)

Navy cardigan sweater

The OPTIONAL uniform for Pre-K through 5th Grade:

Children may wear the optional uniform on days <u>other than Required Dress Code Days.</u> It is the option of the parents to purchase these additional items.

Girls: Navy flat-front pants (black, navy or brown belt must be worn with loops)

Navy pull-on pants allowed for Pre-K and Kindergarten

Navy shorts (black, navy or brown belt must be worn with loops)

Navy pull-on shorts allowed for Pre-K and Kindergarten

Navy 2-in-1 skort

Red cotton polo shirt (short or long-sleeve) with school logo

Shoes purchased at Mills Uniform Company from the SJCS approved list

Knee-high, crew, or tights (solid black, solid navy blue, or solid white)

Red SJCS logo sweatshirt purchased at school through HSA

Boys: Navy shorts (black, navy or brown belt must be worn with loops)

Navy pull-on shorts allowed for Pre-K and Kindergarten

Red wicking polo shirt (short-sleeve, long-sleeve is not available) with school logo

Red cotton polo shirt (short or long-sleeve) with school logo

Shoes purchased at Mills Uniform Company from the SJCS approved list

Crew socks (solid black, solid navy, or solid white)

Red SJCS logo sweatshirt purchased at school through HSA

The REQUIRED uniform for 6th – 8th Grade:

Girls 6th through 8th - Required (Dress) Uniform

The REQUIRED (DRESS) uniform is worn on days the students attend Mass, certain school functions, and field trips.

Plaid box-pleat skirt – see the skirt length discussion below

White cap-sleeve blouse or white oxford (short or long-sleeve oxfords may be worn)

Navy crossover tie

Shoes purchased at Mills Uniform Company from the SJCS approved list

Knee-high, crew, or tights (solid black, solid navy blue, or solid white)

Navy varsity sweater with white sleeve stripes

Navy stretch modesty short for under skirt

Boys 6th through 8th – Required (Dress) Uniform

The REQUIRED (DRESS) uniform is worn on days the students attend Mass, certain school functions, and field trips.

White oxford shirt (short or long-sleeve)

Khaki flat-front pants

Navy classic tie

Black or Brown belt

Shoes purchased at Mills Uniform Company from the SJCS approved list

Crew socks (solid black, solid navy, or solid white)

Navy varsity sweater with white sleeve stripes

The OPTIONAL uniform for 6th Grade – 8th Grade:

Girls 6th through 8th - Optional Uniform

The optional uniform may be worn on any day that has not been designated a required uniform day. Please observe the rules on when students may wear SJCS logo knit shirts.

Khaki flat-front pants (belts must be worn with loops)

Khaki box-pleat skirt – see discussion of skirt length below

Khaki shorts (belts must be worn with loops)

Khaki 2-in-1 skort

Navy cotton polo shirt (short or long-sleeve) with school logo

Blue oxford shirt (short or long-sleeve)

White oxford shirt (short or long-sleeve)

Shoes purchased at Mills Uniform Company from the SJCS approved list

Knee-high, crew, or tights (solid black, solid navy blue, or solid white)

Navy SJCS logo sweatshirt purchased at school through HSA

Boys 6th through 8th – Optional Uniform

The optional uniform may be worn on any day that has not been designated a required uniform day.

Khaki Shorts (belts must be worn with loops)

Navy wicking polo (short-sleeve, long-sleeve is not available) with school logo

Navy cotton polo (short or long-sleeve) with school logo

Blue oxford shirt (short or long-sleeve)

Shoes purchased at Mills Uniform Company from the SJCS approved list

Crew socks (solid black, solid navy, or solid white)

Navy SJCS logo sweatshirt purchased at school through HSA Any jacket may be worn with any of the uniforms when outside or in extraordinary circumstances determined by the teacher. Otherwise, jackets of any kind may not be worn in the classrooms.

Grades 6 - 8 will wear a physical education uniform purchased through the school.

GENERAL APPEARANCE AND GROOMING

The outward image and general appearance of the Catholic school student has traditionally been one that is an excellent reflection on the student, his/her family, and the school. In keeping with this sense of fulfillment, we require the following appearance standards:

<u>HAIR</u>: Students' hair must be neat, clean, well-groomed and a natural color. Fad hairstyles or hairstyles deemed extreme by the staff/administration are not acceptable. This applies to both male and female students.

Boys' hair will be combed so that it is above the eyebrows in front, half way up the ear on the side, and above the collar in the back.

<u>FACE MASKS</u>: Face masks worn are not to cause a disturbance to the classroom setting. They must be appropriate for a school environment at all times. A student may be asked to remove their mask if causing a disturbance. A parent would be required to bring a new mask to the school.

ACCESSORIES: Excessive use of jewelry and other accessories is not only inappropriate for the age of our students and the style of the uniform, but it can be dangerous during playground and P.E. times. There should be nothing around a student's ankle. The school is not responsible for lost items. Girls who choose to wear hair ribbons, barrettes, or head bands must select styles that complement the school uniform. Such items may not have writing (except the name of our school), advertising, or images. Obvious uniform accessories such as belts will be worn.

JEWELRY: Will be limited to:

- One watch (no smart watches allowed)
- One simple necklace or religious medal
- One ring
- Earrings: Girls may wear only one pair of the **stud-style earrings** (one earring in each bottom ear lobe). Earrings with hoops or rings that extend below the ear lobe are not to be worn. This is a safety issue.

MAKEUP: Clear fingernail polish may be worn. 8th grade girls may wear a light shade of lipstick.

FINGER NAILS: Must be natural, not artificial, and trimmed to a short length. Bottles of polish should not be brought to school and will be taken by the faculty. Students will be sent to the office to remove other finger nail polish colors, and could be asked to trim nails at home if deemed too long by administration.

FACIAL HAIR: Boys will be clean-shaven.

SKIRTS: Skirt length will be knee length at the beginning of the first and second semester. This will allow room for growth during each semester. At no time during the year may the skirt be more than 3 inches above the knee.

FRIDAY SHIRT AND SPIRIT WEAR DRESS CODE

Friday Shirt – The red SJCS Knight t-shirt may be worn on Fridays with uniform bottoms and uniform shoes, unless we are attending Mass or a special gathering on a Friday. In this case, the student is to wear their dress uniform on Friday.

Spirit Wear – One day of each month, official SJCS Spirit shirts may be worn on the day after (Thursday) Home and School Association meetings (Wednesday). Any official SJCS spirit shirt, nice blue jeans (no wholes or tears, no jeggings), and tennis shoes of student choosing may be worn. The red "Friday Shirt" may also be worn on a spirit day. <u>T-shirts produced outside of school authority/permission are not allowed on Fridays or spirit days.</u>

SPECIAL OCCASIONS DRESS CODE

There are special occasions when administration will declare/offer a special-dress day to students. This would be a day when students could come out of uniform. Examples of a special occasion where this dress code applies would be for Spring Pictures, for fund-raising endeavors, or possibly any other special occasion chosen by administration. School administration reserves the right to determine appropriate dress.

Special-dress is defined as jeans, slacks, skirts, dresses, shorts that are the same length as uniform shorts or longer, or Capri pants; tennis shoes; and tops with sleeves. All clothes must be in good repair with no ravels, frays, or tears. Clothing should be modest and conservative in nature, reflecting positively on students as members of a Catholic school. Pictures and writing on clothes must be in good taste. "The General Appearance and Grooming" guidelines listed above still apply. Parents are responsible for ensuring that students are dressed appropriately. If you are in doubt, do not wear it. Students who are not dressed appropriately may be required to call home for parents to bring appropriate dress to school or wear school-supplied clothing. Students who abuse this privilege may lose their future special-dress privileges. Skirts must conform to the length rule above. Blouses, shirts and other tops must cover the midriff when the arms are raised and must have sleeves. In other words, these tops should be long enough to be tucked in. No leggings or skin-tight jeans may be worn without a long tunic reaching mid-thigh. Cold shoulder shirts/blouses may not be worn. Shoes must have closed toes, backs behind the heels, and moderate heels for safety purposes. Sandals may not be worn. Students will still be attending PE and recess on special-dress days and it is imperative that they wear these types of shoes for safety purposes so that injuries are either prevented or minimized.

CAFETERIA

Students may bring lunches prepared at home in sacks or lunchboxes or they may purchase hot/cold lunches prepared by our contracted caterer. If a child forgets his/her lunch, a meal of some type will be provided. Families will be billed for this service. In our health curriculum we teach and encourage good nutrition. Food items such as fruit, vegetables, yogurt, crackers and

cheese are examples of nutritious foods. Please refrain from sending carbonated drinks or candy. Glass containers are not allowed.

All students in the cafeteria will practice good manners. "Please" and "thank-you" are expected, napkins will be used, food will not be thrown, voices will be low, messes will be cleaned up before leaving and so on. Students are expected to follow the instructions of adults who are working in the cafeteria. Teachers will discuss these expectations with students and add to them as appropriate.

Parents may eat lunch with their child/ren. Parents must first present their driver's license to obtain a visitor's badge from the front office, before entering the cafeteria. Parents are expected to sit in the visitor seating areas. If you are in doubt, please ask the on-duty faculty member where to sit. All other tables have been assigned to classes so that they have a designated place to go to when eating their lunch. It always causes problems when a parent is sitting in a student's seat. Please cooperate so that the school can continue to provide this service. Please have only your child eat with you. Selecting other children only creates hurt feelings for those who are not invited.

SCHOOL SUPPLIES

All students must be properly supplied with paper, pencils, erasers, pens, etc. if they are to perform properly in school. Replenishing these supplies should be done whenever needed.

CLASSROOM, BIRTHDAY, AND SCHOOL PARTIES

Please mail invitations to private parties or distribute them off the school premises. On campus distribution of invitations is only appropriate if all students in the class are invited. Parents may bring a birthday treat for <u>every</u> student in the class to share at lunchtime.

Following are the only approved school parties: All Saints Day, Christmas, Feast of St. Joseph, and end-of-the-year. Teachers will approve the type of party to be held in their classrooms. Candles may not be used at parties.

PROCEDURE FOR DROP-OFF/PICK-UP AND WALK-UP CAR LINE

PikMyKid App

The PikMyKid App must be downloaded to your device and ready to be used on the first day of school to announce your arrival for student pick-up. The app is not utilized for morning drop-off. All families will receive a car tag with each student listed on the tag. **Display the car tag on your dash at all times**.

Flow of Traffic

Please see the Traffic Plan/ Car Line Route Map on page 30 of this handbook. Families may enter our parking lots from two different directions on Green Oaks and then merge at one location in the back lot to form the car line. Families may choose to remain in the Drive-up Line to drop-off and pick-up their child/ren. Families may also choose leave the car line and enter the Walk-up Area to park. Families may then walk-up to drop-off and/or pick-up their child/ren. Walk-up families must adhere to their route, their parking area, and their drop-off/pick-up area established on the map. An adult must walk the child/ren to the staff member receiving them at the designated Walk-up Area, not allowing a child to exit the car and walk themselves to the staff member. Please follow the traffic plan on page 30 of this handbook. This plan will make student

drop-off and pick-up as safe and as quick as possible. Unattended cars are not allowed to be parked in front of the school in the pickup line prior to 2:30 p.m.

Pick-up Times

Please pick your child/ren up at the scheduled dismissal time. Parents that habitually pick their children up after 3:50 p.m. may be required to enroll their child in the After School Care program.

If you have an emergency – car accident, breakdown, traffic jam, etc – and will not be here on time to pick up your student, please call the school office. We will care for your child until you get to the school. If your reason for being late is poor planning, we will charge you \$1.00 for each minute you are late starting at 3:50 p.m. on normal school days and 12:30 p.m. on early dismissal days.

Please call or send a note if your child is being picked up by someone other than the normal person. A parent may delegate a person to pick up their child/ren through the PikMyKid App.

Pick-up Times:

Pre-K through 8th Grade

3:20 p.m. dismissal

Lightening/Bad Weather/Rainy Day Pick-up Procedures

Students will be held in their classrooms under teacher supervision until the school releases the students, once the weather becomes safe. Do not leave cars unattended in the car line. If light rain is the only concern, students will be escorted to the car line with an umbrella. Families may be asked to come indoors to pick-up due to unfavorable weather conditions.

Do not park in the faculty parking lot. If you arrive early and need to park your car, park in the parking lot facing the field/playground, not in car line. **Join the car line only when it is safe to do so.**

PROCEDURE FOR POSSIBLE DROP-OFF CAR LINE ISSUE

If a child in the Drive-up Line will not exit the car while in car line, a family may leave the line and park in the lot facing the soccer field/playground area, to then walk the child to the front door of the school. This should only be a temporary issue. All families are expected to follow the car line route and the car line drop-off and pick-up procedures, including the use of the PikMyKid App and dashboard signage.

CAR LINE TRAFFIC PLAN

ST. JOSEPH CATHOLIC SCHOOL CAR LINE ROUTE WALK-UP ENTER GYM WALK-LIP AREA WALK-UP EXIT CHURCH ADMIN WALK-UP AREA PARKING (DROP-OFF and PICK-UP) h SIDEWALK 0 **DRIVE-UP LINE** CHURCH GREEN OAKS BLVD - SLOW DOWN AND WATCH FOR CROSSING TRAFFIC East Bound Entrance Walk-up Line West Bound Entrance Drive-up Line

BEFORE SCHOOL CARE AND AFTER SCHOOL CARE

Before School Care starts at 7:00 a.m. and ends at 7:20 a.m. A fee is charged for this. Students will not be allowed inside the building prior to 7:00 a.m. Free of charge, students may enter the school building at 7:20 a.m. and gather in the Art Room until all students are dismissed at 7:30 a.m. to their homerooms.

After School Care is provided by the YMCA. Students need to be registered for the YMCA program using their registration process. Registration paperwork is available in the school office or from the Y's on-site program director.

CAMPUS VISITORS

All visitors entering the school building are to report to the school office and present their driver's license to receive a visitor's badge.

COVID-19 HEALTH CONCERNS

In order to prevent the spread of disease, we ask that you do not send your child to school if he/she is exhibiting any symptoms of illness or running a fever. If he/she has been ill, it is required that he/she be free of fever without fever reducing medication for 24 hours prior to returning to school. It is imperative that parents/guardians follow this protocol at all times. Should a child become ill on campus and require a parent/guardian to take them home, this parent/guardian must arrive to retrieve the student within 30 minutes of the initial phone call.

*Important - Perform health screening questions daily with your family before leaving for school. If you answer "yes" to any of the questions found on the CDC Website regarding a child, that child should remain home.

GENERAL HEALTH CONCERNS

St. Joseph has a nurse on staff charged with managing the health care needs of your children during school hours. The school nurse follows Diocesan policies regarding dispensing medication, sending sick children home, screenings and childhood immunizations. The Diocese complies with state law in performing vision, hearing, height and weight, acanthosis nigricans and spinal screenings, all of which are under the purview of the school nurse. The Diocese also follows Texas state law regarding required immunizations. A child may not attend school without the proper immunizations, unless that child has a medical exemption from a licensed MD or DO.

Every student enrolled in a Catholic School in the State of Texas shall be immunized against vaccine preventable diseases caused by infectious agents in accordance with the immunization schedule adopted by the Texas Department of State Health Services. A student who fails to present the required evidence shall not be accepted for enrollment. The only exception to the foregoing requirement is a medical exemption signed by a licensed physician (M.D. or D.O.) authorized to practice in the State of Texas, including the physicians license number. Immunizations are not in conflict with the Catholic faith. Conscientious objections or waivers, which may be permissible for attendance in public schools, do not qualify as an exemption in Catholic Schools in Texas. (Texas Attorney General Opinion: GA-0420)

This policy was adopted by Texas Catholic Conference Education Department, December 2008 and voted on April 3, 2017 to keep as written with no changes by the Bishops of Texas.

The nurse maintains a health folder on each student, in which is kept a copy of his/her Catholic School Health Report (school physical) with current immunizations, a record of all screenings, and significant health information (i.e., allergies, health conditions, current medications, etc.). It is the parent's responsibility to provide the school with accurate and updated health information at least annually, including recently obtained immunizations. Please refer to the Diocesan Immunization Policy found on page 37 of this handbook.

Contagious diseases or conditions (*Strep throat, Flu, Impetigo etc.*) should be reported to the school office immediately. If directed to do so by qualified health personnel, the school will notify parents if there is reason to believe that their children may have been exposed to something contagious. Potentially serious exposures (*blood or body fluids*) will be handled via a phone call and written notification.

Medication:

- Only necessary medication prescribed for but not limited to the treatment of ADD/ADHD,
 Diabetes, and Epilepsy may be given at school. All medication should be given outside of
 school hours if possible. Three-times-a-day medication should be given before school, after
 school, and at bedtime.
- All medications (prescription and over-the-counter [OTC]) require a completed <u>Medication Permit Form</u>, **signed by a parent/guardian** and **a physician**. The official Diocesan Medication Permit Form is available in the school office or from the school nurse.

- Prescription medications must have a pharmacy label. OTC meds must be in the original labeled bottles or tubes **no baggies, please**.
- Parents or guardians (<u>not children</u>) must bring all medications (prescription and OTC) to the school nurse for administration. Diocesan policy does not allow children to carry any medication on their person or in a backpack or to keep medication in a locker.
- At the end of the school year, parents are responsible for picking up remaining medication. Those not picked up will be disposed of properly.

Please be considerate and do not send a sick child to school. You should keep your child home if he/she has had a fever ($\geq 100^{\circ}$ F) within the last 24 hours, vomited during the night or that morning, has uncontrollable and excessive coughing, or is unable to follow class routine. The following is a list of conditions for which your child might be sent home by the school nurse. Also listed is the return to school criteria.

Diocesan Sick Child *Exclusion* Guidelines:

- Oral temperature of 100°F or above ** Return to school when fever free for 24 hours.
- Vomiting, nausea or severe abdominal pain ** Return to school when symptom free.
- Marked drowsiness or malaise** Return to school when symptom free.
- Sore throat, acute cold, or persistent cough ** Return when symptom free.
- Red, inflamed, or discharging eyes ** Return with written physician release.
- Acute skin rashes or eruptions ** Return with written physician release.
- Swollen glands around jaws, ears or neck ** Return with written physician release.
- Suspected scabies or impetigo ** Return with written physician release.
- Any skin lesion in the weeping stage ** Return covered and diagnosed as non-infectious.
- Earache ** Return when symptom free.
- Pediculosis (head lice) ** Return when lice and nit (eggs) free.
- Other symptoms suggestive of acute illness** Return with written physician release.

Students who are absent due to illness may not come back to school to do school work or take tests if they meet the exclusion guidelines.

A parent or designated relative or friend must be available to pick up a sick or injured student within 30 minutes of notification by school personnel. The school nurse will administer minor first aid and comfort measures at school. If major first aid is needed, school personnel will first attempt to contact a parent/guardian or other person designated on the Student Emergency Care Form (yellow card). If none is available or if the situation is judged to be a true emergency, school personnel will call 911. Parents will be responsible for any expense incurred. Every attempt will be made to contact parents in the event of an emergency.

<u>HEALTH CONCERNS – WEATHER RELATED</u>

St. Joseph follows the Diocesan Heat and Cold Guidelines relative to outdoor activities. When the Temperature-Heat-Index (THI) reaches 95 degrees, outdoor activity is limited to 10-15 minutes. When the Temperature Heat Index (THI) reaches 100 degrees, no outside recess or P.E. or diocesan sports/practice for elementary/middle schools are allowed. When the temperature and/or wind chill is below 32 degrees, the children will be kept indoors for PE and recess. Please dress your children appropriately for the weather: shorts and short sleeves in the warm months; long pants or hose/tights and long sleeves with sweaters and jackets for cold weather.

Ozone alerts: On confirmed <u>Purple ozone days</u> there will be no outdoor PE or recess. On confirmed <u>Red ozone days</u>, children with known lung disease who are sensitive to the ozone factor will be kept indoors. On <u>Orange ozone days</u>, we will monitor sensitive children during outdoor activities. If your child has respiratory difficulty during periods of high ozone and you want to be sure that he/she is kept indoors, please send a note to the school nurse with specific instructions.

ANIMALS ON CAMPUS

Any animal that is brought onto the campus should be in a cage, not on a leash, and secured so that it poses no safety risk to any person. This includes before school, during the school day, and at dismissal.

LIBRARY

Students must comply with library rules:

- 1. Library privileges will be forfeited if a student abuses the books or is habitually late in returning them.
- 2. A fine of five cents per library day per book will be paid for each overdue book.
- 3. Lost or damaged books must be paid for at replacement cost, which includes shipping if applicable.

Report cards will not be issued to students who have not returned overdue books and paid their fines. Parents may also use the library according to rules established by the librarian.

To promote literacy and the lifelong habit of reading, all students are encouraged to have a library book with them at all times. They may read as they finish independent work in class, at transition times, and other times designated by the teacher.

FIELD TRIPS

Field trips are privileges and not rights. Privileges must be earned. Teachers have been instructed not to take students on field trips if they have not earned the privilege. Poor behavior and low academic achievement are obvious reasons for not being able to go on a field trip. Students who do not go on field trips are still expected to be in school. Arrangements will be made by the Administration to ensure that they are supervised until their class returns.

Students must have signed permission slips to be able to participate in a field trip. Only the permission slip provided by the school is acceptable. Telephoned permission will not be accepted. School approved permission slips that are faxed are acceptable. Dress uniform is required unless otherwise stated on the permission slip.

Cars going on trips must stay in caravan with no side trips or errands. Please do not provide treats for the students riding in your car, as this is disappointing to others. Parent drivers are expected to refrain from smoking when participating in field trips as with any school function. Parents must not text while driving. Safety requires that all supervisory adults be able to give their whole attention to the children in the class. Persons driving must supply a copy of their driver's license and verify the amount of liability coverage to the school office before the field trip. All children must be individually secured with a seatbelt.

Parents driving on field trips must provide a copy of their driver's license and insurance card in addition to a Driver Information Sheet that is provided by the teacher. The Driver Information Sheet is to be filled out each school year and insurance coverage dates on this form should be up to date. Liability limits are set by the Diocese for drivers to be eligible to drive on field trips. These limits of liability are \$100,000 per person/\$300,000 per occurrence/\$25,000 property damage. The driver must keep a current insurance card on file in the school office. The driver, as well as any other chaperones, must also have a copy of a valid *Safe Environment Program* certificate on file with the school.

In accordance with Texas state law, a booster seat is required for children below 8 years of age or below 57 inches in height.

SCHOOL/HOME COMMUNICATIONS

Emergency communications will occur through a text messaging system (FACTS Parent Alert) and email. Parents whose cell numbers and emails are loaded into FACTS SIS should receive both text messages and emails when sent.

A monthly calendar will be sent out from the school office and will be posted on FACTS SIS Family Portal. Please refer to this daily in order to wear appropriate uniforms, note due dates, and be informed of current events.

Every Thursday an electronic file will be emailed with notes, lunch menus and all other communications from the administrative staff. Announcements are posted on FACTS SIS as needed.

When sending information and/or money to the school, please put it in an envelope and put your child's name, teacher, grade and note about the contents on the outside of the envelope. This helps us to disperse it to the appropriate place quickly. Money should always be in the form of a check unless otherwise noted.

BAD WEATHER CLOSING NOTIFICATION

We follow the bad weather instructions issued by Arlington ISD. Our school will follow what Arlington ISD does, unless the Diocesan Catholic Schools Office advises otherwise. During the winter months school closings or late-opening times will be announced on local TV stations and their websites.

Additionally, we will post emergency changes like a school closing, delayed start, and emergency early dismissal information through FACTS (RenWeb) via email and via the Parent Alert text message function through FACTS. Check your email and text messages before calling the school.

DISCIPLINE

Discipline Philosophy

Each serious incident referred to the administration is different and will be treated differently. The administration will review each serious incident using any and all factors that are considered pertinent. Therefore, you should not expect the consequences of two incidents to be the same since the extenuating and mitigating circumstances are probably quite different. The administration will consider not only the immediate incident in determining appropriate consequences but also any other factors that are considered pertinent. This could include past behavior, parental cooperation and support, number of incidents, student attitude towards discipline and so on. Just because the circumstances of two separate incidents appear similar, does not mean that the consequence will be similar. One size does not fit all. Only the administration has access to all information required to make these decisions.

General

A student's behavior should at all times reflect respect for God, parents, teachers, adults, fellow students, and for the property of others. Students are responsible for their behavior. They have the free will to choose what they will do and what they won't do. We expect students to make good choices. Students who make bad choices will receive appropriate consequences.

If your child has chronic discipline problems, phone calls can be expected at home or your place of employment. Cooperation and suggestions from home are extremely important in these instances.

The administration reserves the right to search wall lockers, desks, cubbyholes, and other areas at any time without notice. These belong to the school. The purpose of these searches is to ensure the safety, health and welfare of our students, faculty, staff and parents. When anyone has information that would reasonably lead him or her to believe that an unauthorized or dangerous item may be at school, that information will be brought to the attention of the principal or in their absence the assistant principal. The principal will determine if the information is sufficient to warrant a search. If a search is warranted, the principal will conduct it in the presence of the teacher or other appropriate person, and the appropriate student. Contraband will be confiscated and further disciplinary action taken as discussed below for serious offenses.

The school also reserves the right to ask students to remove the contents of their backpacks, gym bags, purses or any other type of container for inspection. The principal/assistant principal will again be consulted. If the student will not comply with this request, then the parents will be contacted. If the parents will not comply then the school reserves the right to suspend the student, ask the family to withdraw the student from school or expel the student. When working with purses, backpacks or other similar containers, the teacher will take physical possession of them until the student empties the contents.

There are several categories of negative behavior as follows:

Minor

Minor offenses are those that are covered by classroom rules. The teacher deals with these problems. Each grade level will develop a classroom plan of expected behaviors that are

considered less serious. The students will follow these or accept logical consequences. Examples of classroom expectations could be: follow directions the first time given, raise hand before asking questions, complete homework assignments, wear the proper uniform, and come prepared for class.

Serious

Serious offenses are all other situations that may require a referral to the principal/assistant principal for action. If a serious offense occurs, the student may be required to notify his/her parents by phone to come to the school for a conference with the principal/assistant principal. In some cases, the student will not be allowed to return to class until the conference is held or until arrangements for a conference have been made. Teacher(s) will attend the conference if appropriate. The action taken is left to the discretion of the principal/assistant principal, depending on the nature and seriousness of the offense.

Serious behaviors that are subject to the above procedures may include, but not limited to:

- 1. Open and persistent defiance of authority
- 2. Willful destruction or defacing of school property, including technology resources
- 3. Stealing
- 4. Fighting
- 5. Disrespect of a serious nature
- 6. Cheating
- 7. Offensive language or gestures of a serious nature
- 8. Carrying a knife, matches or other items considered dangerous
- 9. Any behavior which is harmful to the welfare or safety of other students
- 10. Conduct unbecoming of a Christian student
- 11. Inappropriate display of affection (see below)
- 12. Harassment
- 13. Possession of tobacco, vaping products, alcohol, drugs

Possible actions may include:

- 1. Suspension from school sponsored athletics and other extracurricular activities
- 2. Loss of field trip
- 3. Placed on probation
- 4. Suspension either in-school or out-of-school
- 5. Expelled permanently (extreme cases)

Students who are suspended out of school may receive zeros for all class work missed.

These lists of behaviors and actions do not cover every possible situation. The administration reserves the right to deal with behavior and consequence in other ways as warranted by the situation.

Multiple documented disciplinary situations are of great concern to the administration. They raise a serious question as to whether the student is benefiting from the education provided by St. Joseph. There is also a concern that this negative behavior adversely impacts the rights of other

students. The administration reserves the right not only to give consequences for each individual serious conduct incident but to also consequence multiple behavior incidents by invoking any of the above consequences that are deemed appropriate. That means a student could be put on probation, suspended or expelled for multiple behavior incidents.

Personal Display of Affection

Any personal display of affection (PDA) by the students in our school is inappropriate. PDA includes boys and girls holding hands, giving hugs to one another, putting arms around one another and similar activities. These actions are inappropriate at school, at school sponsored or attended events, or at Diocesan events. Violations are considered serious and will be referred to the Administration.

Harassment/Bullying/Stop Bullying.Gov

Harassment is when one person makes repeated verbal or physical contacts with another person who does not want these contacts. "Repeated" is defined as more than once. Examples of conduct that could constitute sexual harassment are: sexual propositions, off-color jokes, inappropriate physical contact, innuendoes, sexual offers, looks and gestures. Harassment is considered serious and will be referred to the administration for action.

According to <u>www.stopbullying.gov</u>, bullying has the following definition:

Bullying is unwanted, aggressive behavior among school aged children that involves a real or perceived power imbalance. The behavior is repeated, or has the potential to be repeated, over time. Bullying includes actions such as making threats, spreading rumors, attacking someone physically or verbally, and excluding someone from a group on purpose.

All members of the school community are expected to contribute to the positive climate of the school. Student behavior should reflect acceptance and respect for others. Inclusion of others is the guiding principle. Families/students are able to make use of the "Student Complaint Form – Bullying" to report an incident. Reported incidents of bullying will be investigated and if deemed appropriate, interventions and/or consequences will be used to address the reported incident.

Adult Behavior

Adults are also expected to demonstrate good behavior on and off campus at activities in which our students are participating or that are sponsored by SJCS. This would include both coaches and spectators at athletic events. The actions of adults speak more powerfully to our students than words ever will. Therefore, it is an adult responsibility to act in an appropriate manner that not only sets a good example for our students but also reflects in a positive way on our school. Any other behavior that is less than this high standard and expectation will be reviewed by the school administration for action. The school reserves the right to remove students from the school based on parents' or family members' actions.

Cell Phones

Students are expected to demonstrate good digital citizenship. The following rules apply to students who have cell phones or other electronic devices at school:

*Students who have cell phones or other devices at school must have them silenced (not vibrate) and stored out of sight while they are under school supervision, not on their person. This includes during Before School Care. In certain circumstances, upper school teachers may allow students to call/text their parents after going outside for dismissal. The teacher will supervise the use of the phone.

*Cell phones and other electronic devices may not be used for taking pictures, taking video, or voice recording. Devices that can take pictures are not allowed in restrooms. *Devices that may be worn, including smart watches, that are capable of receiving text

messages, phone calls, and/or taking pictures may not be worn at school.

First violation: Confiscation of the device by the teacher and returned at the end of the school day with a warning not to repeat the violation.

Second violation: Confiscation of the device by the teacher. Parent must retrieve the device from the teacher.

Third violation: Confiscation of the device by the teacher, who will give the device to the principal. Parent must retrieve the device from the principal. When permitted by the teachers and school administration, student owned tablets and laptops may be used for academic purposes in the classroom. See Acceptable Use Policy later in this handbook.

The conduct portion of the report card may be affected. Electronic devices are brought to school at the student's own risk. The school cannot guarantee that they will not be damaged or lost. Possession of a cell phone or other electronic device at school is a privilege that may be revoked if the student does not use the device within the established rules.

No harassment or threatening of persons via cell phone or other electronic device is permitted. The use of a cell phone or other electronic device to violate any school or diocesan policy, including the Acceptable Use Policy, may result in loss of the privilege to possess a cell phone or other electronic device at school. Any cell phone or electronic device that is brought onto the school campus is subject to inspection and/or search.

NOTE: The principal is the final recourse in disciplinary situations and reserves the right to interpret and/or waive any and all regulations for just cause in his or her discretion.

VIOLENCE

Actual violence, the threat of violence or bringing a weapon to school will not be tolerated. Students are responsible for their conduct and will be held accountable. Violence, threats or bringing weapons to school could result in a range of consequences to include expulsion. This is a serious area and the administration is not required to give violators a second chance before imposing serious consequences. Verbal threats even if done in a joking manner will be taken seriously. Bringing dangerous items to school such as knives, guns, matches or other items that in the opinion of the administration could injure someone else or cause property damage will be dealt with under this section. Weapons will be confiscated by the administration. Parents must ensure that students understand and comply with this section.

CONDUCT

Student conduct is reported to parents by the teacher in numerous ways to include in the assignment book, notes, conferences, phones calls with written memos, and e-mails to parents through Renweb. Student conduct is recorded on the report card in the Conduct section. The administration is concerned about students that have conduct that "Needs Improvement." Students must have conduct that meets school expectations in order to participate in the National Junior Honor Society, Student Council, and other school sponsored extracurricular activities.

SCHOOL LOGO

Written approval must be obtained from the administration for use of the school logos in advance of their use.

TEXTBOOKS

Textbooks are expensive and students are expected to take care of them. Though normal wear is expected and reasonable, damage beyond this normal wear will be assessed fines. Book damage fines may be based on the following guidelines: bent corners - \$1.00 each corner; ink marks - \$.25 to \$1.00 each mark; marker – one half to whole cost of book; minor damage - \$1.00 - \$5.00; major damage – new book cost. Books must be covered at all times. A fine (\$.50) may be imposed if after being warned to cover a textbook, it is still not covered. If a student is required to buy a new book, the student will also pay shipping costs.

EARLY DISMISSAL FOR ILLNESS AT SCHOOL

Parents are required to sign out students leaving the school for any reason. A sign-out book is in the office. Students will not be permitted to leave with anyone other than a parent unless there has been written authorization from a parent. **Office personnel** will call the classroom for your will result in child being sent to the office, where they will then be released to you. Classroom teachers will not release students to parents during school hours. Only the office may do this.

RELIGION PROGRAM

SACRAMENTAL PREPARATION:

The appropriate grade program covers the doctrine necessary for the preparation of the student for the reception of the Sacraments of Eucharist and Reconciliation. In accordance with Canon Law, the actual preparation for these Sacraments is handled through each student's Parish Sacramental Program. It is a family responsibility to sign up for sacramental preparation classes <u>at your parish</u>.

PRAYER/LITURGICAL PROGRAMS:

The students experience many forms of prayer. Throughout the year we memorize classroom prayers, Bible verses, and engage in scripture readings. As a school we study the Virtues and attend weekly Mass and frequent prayer services. During Advent and Lent, faith-based activities help students understand the liturgical meaning of the season and enable them to grow spiritually by becoming a part of the life of the Church.

CURRICULUM

The curriculum of St. Joseph Catholic School includes daily Religion and all subjects required by the State of Texas and Texas Catholic Conference of Bishops. Instruction is in accordance with the Curriculum Standards provided by the Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth. Texas TEKS are covered as the minimum of what we teach, as schools embrace a classical approach to Catholic education in the Diocese of Fort Worth.

ACADEMIC PROGRAM:

<u>Pre-K</u> St. Joseph Catholic School offers a 3-year old and a 4-year old preschool program that are developmental in nature.

<u>Kindergarten</u> Kindergarten follows a structured program emphasizing religious development, social structure and beginning development in language arts, math, science and social studies/history.

<u>Primary/Intermediate grades (Grades 1-8)</u> Religion, math, language arts (reading, English grammar, writing, phonics, vocabulary and spelling), science, social studies/history, are taught generally in self-contained classrooms through grade 3. Classes in grades 4-5 will be taught in a hybrid departmentalized manner, between 4 teachers. Classes in grades 6-8 will be taught in a fully departmentalized manner, between 6 teachers.

<u>Grades Pre-K - 8</u> are taught Spanish and Latin.

<u>Special classes</u> Library, Physical Education, Music, Spanish/Latin, Computers, STREAM Enrichment Program, Drama/Speech, and Art are offered during school hours.

<u>Extra-curricular activities</u> 4-H (through Nolan Catholic High School), Running Club, Drama Club, Robotics, band, and art are normally offered after school.

The atmosphere at St. Joseph Catholic School is characterized by a deep respect for spiritual values, cultural diversity and a search for knowledge. Students are taught to explore their world in search for Truth, Beauty, and Goodness, by faculty utilizing classical educational elements throughout lessons.

WIRELESS NETWORK

To maintain the security of the school's computer network, using the school's wireless internet connection may only be done with permission from the school's administration and for school approved purposes. Network keys (passwords) are subject to change at any time.

GOOGLE APPS

The school issues Google Apps accounts and passwords for academic use to students in grades 4-8. Email is not enabled. These accounts are the property of St. Joseph Catholic School and may be accessed at any time by appropriate school personnel. Google accounts may be used for academic purposes only.

SCHOOL TELEPHONES

School telephones are for school business only and may not be used by students or parents without permission from a faculty or staff member.

VOLUNTEERS

Any classroom/homeroom volunteer must first receive the Safe Environment Training and all subsequent training renewals offered by the Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth, before being allowed to volunteer.

SUPERVISION OF STUDENTS AFTER SCHOOL

Students may not be left on school grounds after dismissal without parental supervision.

CHILD CUSTODY AND FAMILY LAW ISSUES

The school works to balance sensitivity to difficult family situations and the interests of safety and an orderly school administration. Involving school personnel in family and custody issues diverts finite school resources from the school's primary function. It is important that families within the school community who are affected by custody and other related legal disputes read and comply with the following policies and procedures.

When custody and/or visitation rights to a child have been changed by court order, it is the responsibility of the affected student's family to provide the school with a complete, final, signed copy of the relevant order and to point out to the school any relevant portions of the order. Unless and until a student's family does so, the school may assume that both of a child's biological or adoptive parents have equal rights to custody of and visitation with the student, as well as access to student records.

It is the responsibility of the parents, not the school, to ensure that the school is promptly provided with any relevant original or amended custody orders. The school will take reasonably practical steps, as defined by the school, to facilitate compliance with relevant family court orders. However, it is the responsibility of the family, and not the school, to enforce family court orders regarding a student. School personnel are not family law attorneys and are not responsible for interpreting or enforcing custody or other family court orders. Attorneys representing parents in custody disputes should not contact school personnel directly, but should contact diocesan legal counsel.

It is detrimental to the school community when family disputes are brought onto the school property. Parents are expected to avoid parental confrontations or arguments on school grounds. The principal or his/her designee has the authority to exclude any person from the school if doing so is necessary and appropriate. If school personnel believe that the behavior of a parent or other legally responsible adult presents an imminent threat of harm to a student, the school may refuse to release the student to the parent or other legally responsible adult or take other such steps, including but not limited to contacting law enforcement or the student's emergency contact, as the school deems necessary.

RIGHT TO AMMEND

St. Joseph Catholic School reserves the right to amend this Handbook. Administration retains the right to amend the handbook at any time during the academic year. Parents and students will be given prompt notification if changes are made. Notice of amendments will be sent to parents via the weekly newsletter and/or through email communication. In all cases the interpretation of the handbook remains with the administration.

COPY OF DIOCESAN SCHOOL HANDBOOK ACKNOWLEDGMENT FORM

All families are required to sign this form electronically when completing the enrollment process each year. The language of this form is found electronically under Web Forms in the Family Portal in FACTS.

SCHOOL HANDBOOK ACKNOWLEDGMENT Diocese of Fort Worth - Catholic Schools	
School: School Year:	
Student's Name: Grade:	
Optional: Use the lines below to include other children instead of filling out a separate form	
Print Student's Name and Grade Level Print Student's Name and Grade Level	
Print Student's Name and Grade Level Print Student's Name and Grade Level	
Mother's Name:	
Father's Name:	
PARENT/GUARDIAN ACKNOWLEDGMENT	
The registration and attendance of a student at the School constitutes an expressed agreement on the part of the student, as well as the student's parents/guardians, to comply with the School's Handbook, policies, and procedures and to demonstrate a commitment to the School's mission.	
I, the undersigned parent, on behalf of myself, my spouse, and my family, acknowledge that we have received and agree to be governed by the parent-student/family handbook ("Handbook").	
We have read and reviewed the Handbook with Student(s). We accept and understand the policies and procedures of the School, and we accept and understand that failure to adhere to these policies and procedures is sufficient reason for dismissal, withdrawal, or non-renewal of Student(s) at the School.	
We understand, acknowledge, and agree that, as the School is part of the Diocese of Fort Worth, any student/parent information or records possessed by the School may, when appropriate, be shared internally within the Diocese of Fort Worth, including its other schools, and we hereby give permission and authorize the School and Diocese to share or disclose such information in accordance with the Internal Information policy.	
We understand and acknowledge that the School, being Catholic in nature, will exercise its responsibility to teach Catholic faith and morals in the fullness of truth and charity, especially as expressed in the Catehism of the Catholic Church. We will not publicly repudiate the teachings or traditions of the Catholic Church or act in ways that contradict the Catholic nature of the School. We will affirm, respect, and support the School's unique identity, role, and mission derived from the Catholic faith. We will cooperate fully with the School, and Student(s) will participate in all required School programming, including instruction in the Catholic faith and attendance at Mass. As the primary educator of Student(s), we agree to act in ways that promote the best interests of the Church and the School, and we will comply with the policies of the School and Diocese.	
Parent/Guardian Signature Parent/Guardian Signature	
Date Date	
*All parents/guardians with legal authority to make educational and religious decisions on behalf of the child(ren) must sign this form.	
Page 1 of 1 DIOCESE OF FORT WORTH Rev. July 2023	

POLICIES PROVIDED BY THE CATHOLIC SCHOOLS OFFICE OF THE DIOCESE OF FORT WORTH

IMMUNIZATION POLICY

Every student enrolled in a Catholic School in the State of Texas shall be immunized against vaccine preventable diseases caused by infectious agents in accordance with the immunization schedule adopted by the Texas Department of State Health Services. A student who fails to present the required evidence shall not be accepted for enrollment. The *only exception* to the foregoing requirement is a medical exemption signed by a licensed physician (M.D. or D.O.) authorized to practice in the State of Texas, including the physicians license number.

Immunizations are not in conflict with the Catholic faith. Conscientious objections or waivers, which may be permissible for attendance in public schools, do not qualify as an exemption in Catholic Schools in Texas. (Atty. Gen. Op. GA-0420)

This policy was adopted by Texas Catholic Conference Education Department, December 2008 and voted on April 3, 2017 to keep as written with no changes by the Bishops of Texas.

1240 NOTICE OF NON-DISCRIMINATORY POLICY AS TO STUDENTS

Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth schools admit students of any race, color, national, and ethnic origin to all the rights, privileges, programs, and activities generally accorded or made available to students at the school. It does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national and ethnic origin in administration of its educational policies, admissions policies, scholarship and loan programs, and athletic and other school-administered programs.

Religious educational institutions are exempt from Civil Rights legislation in the employment and enrollment of individuals of a particular religious persuasion. Preference in employment and admissions may be given to Catholic staff and students in the Catholic Schools of the Diocese.

1261 VIOLENCE AND WEAPONS

The School is concerned with providing students and employees with a safe and productive environment. As such, the School expressly prohibits any and all acts or threats of violence by or against any student, employee, family member of a student, vendor, or other visitor to the School facilities. This policy applies to all students and employees, whether or not they are engaged in business on behalf of the School, and whether or not they are on School premises.

In addition, the School strictly prohibits the possession of, exhibition or threats of exhibition or use, or use of any and all weapons, including handguns, on School premises by any student or employee, family member of a student, vendor, or other visitor, whether licensed or unlicensed and whether concealed or visible. School premises includes not only the main facilities, but also the parking lots,

entrances and exits, break areas, etc. Students and employees are further prohibited from the possession of, exhibition or threats of exhibition or use, or the use of any and all weapons while conducting business on behalf of the School off of School premises.

3240 INTERNAL INFORMATION

The School is part of the Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth. As such, when appropriate, any student/parent record or information possessed by the School, including academic, developmental, behavioral, disciplinary, financial, or contact/identifying information, may be shared internally within the Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth (including its departments, schools, parishes, priests or the Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth Advancement Foundation).

Academic testing information and results may be shared with other schools of the Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth for academic, enrollment, or placement purposes.

Additionally, any information submitted in or with any financial aid application (including FACTS) may be shared with the Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth, the Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth Advancement Foundation, their affiliates, any tuition assistance board of the diocese, parish, or school, or the Stephen Breen Memorial Foundation to consider in awarding financial aid or developing additional tuition assistance programs."

5000 ADMISSION OF STUDENTS

It is a privilege and a grace to be educated in a Catholic school. The schools and the Diocese retain the right to disallow a student to attend, continue attending, or to re-enroll in a school. Any enrollment prior to the first day of school, including but not limited to advanced enrollment, pre-enrollment, or continuing enrollment of a student, is a conditional enrollment subject to review and termination by the school at any time. Prior to the first day of school, the school does not have to state the reasons, or have grounds, for revoking or denying a conditional enrollment of a student. The school does not have to state the reasons for denying enrollment of a student at any point during the year. The conduct of a student or a parent/guardian of the student (including any lifestyle, other conduct, or advocacy of a matter that is contrary to the Catholic faith or that may cause scandal, disruption, or confusion within the school community) may be grounds for the school revoking or denying the enrollment of a student at any time. All decisions of admission, including

_

² Whether conduct of a parent/guardian or student (including lifestyle, other conduct, or advocacy of a matter contrary to the Catholic faith or that may cause scandal, disruption, or confusion within the school community) is disqualifying for enrollment purposes is a decision that will be made based on various factors. Not all conduct of the sort will necessarily result in disqualification from enrollment if the parent/guardian or student strives to live in accordance with the Catholic faith and complies with the mission policy. On the other hand, such conduct that is a rejection of Church teaching, whether explicitly or implicitly, may not necessarily be afforded leniency. Catholic schools in the Diocese of Fort Worth will exercise their responsibility to teach Catholic faith and morals in the fullness of truth and charity, especially as expressed in the *Catechism of the Catholic Church*, regardless of the views or wishes of the parent/guardian or student.

revocation of admission, are guided by the Catholic faith and are necessarily ecclesiastical in nature.

Students should not be denied admission to a Catholic school because of a disability unless the disability seriously impairs the student's ability to successfully complete the school's academic program or unless the school cannot provide sufficient care or provide reasonable accommodation for the student. The determination as to whether the school may provide reasonable accommodations for the student or applicant is made on a case-by-case basis. Under some circumstances, medically justifiable limitations may be placed on the admission/retention of students with infectious diseases and/or life-threatening illnesses.

International Students may be admitted in accordance with the requirements of the United States Department of Justice and the Department of Immigration and Naturalization. Students seeking admission under F-1 status must request an I 20 form from the Catholic Schools Office.

The enrollment or registration and attendance of a student at a Catholic Diocese of Fort Worth school constitutes an expressed agreement on the part of the student, as well as the student's parents/guardians, to comply with the school's policies and procedures and demonstrate commitment to the school's mission. Failure to read the material contained in the handbook does not excuse the student or the student's parents/guardians from responsibility for knowing and following the policies, procedures, and regulations in the handbook.

Students applying for admission must present a copy of the current report card and standardized test results. These will be reviewed to determine whether the program the school will meet the educational needs of the students. An interview with the student is part of the admission process. Testing in certain academic areas may be held for new, incoming students.

All new students will be given a probationary period of one semester. If during this probationary period there are any concerns, a student may be asked to withdraw from the school. The recommendation and decision of the school is final.

MISSON POLICY IN RELATION TO ADMISSIONS

Parents of students enrolling their children in a Catholic school must understand, affirm, and support the school's role and primary mission as guided by the teachings of the Catholic Church. Parents must acknowledge that they have read and understand, affirm, and support the expectations and the mission of the school as guided by the teachings of the Catholic Church. Parents or students who the school determines are not able to meet these expectations or support the mission of the school and teachings of the Catholic Church may not be admitted to the school. Students who are experiencing confusion regarding their sexual identity may be admitted as long as they are open to being accompanied and guided according to the Gospel as upheld in the teachings of the Catholic Church and will follow the mission and policies of the school. Any student whose gender has been legally changed from their biological sex, or who has chemically or surgically altered their God-given biology, may not be eligible for enrollment.

WITHDRAWAL

If at any time before or after admission the school believes that a student or parent/guardian of a student cannot accept the guidance and direction that is offered, is unwilling or unable to meet the expectations of admission, or is unwilling or unable to follow the Gospel as upheld in the teachings of the Catholic Church or the mission or policies of the school, then denial of enrollment, withdrawal, exclusion, or expulsion may be necessary. If a student or parent/guardian acts to legally change the student's gender or takes steps to chemically or surgically alter the student's God-given biological sex, then the student will be dismissed from the school, after the parent/guardian is first given the opportunity to withdraw the student from the school.

IMPLEMENTATION

PRIVILEGE

Being educated in a Catholic school is a grace and a privilege, not a right of the student. The conduct of a student or a parent/guardian of the student (including any lifestyle, other conduct, or advocacy of a matter that is contrary to the Catholic faith or that may cause scandal, disruption, or confusion within the school community) may cause the student to lose the privilege of attending a Catholic school.

Parishioners – Non-Parishioners

A parish school's admission policy should give preference to parishioners. Students from other parishes are to be admitted, if possible. Students of other religious beliefs may be admitted, if space permits.

AGE

Policies regarding age of entry are determined by the TCCBED policy, and the State of Texas. All dates refer to the year of the student's entry into a specific grade level.

- 3K: A child must attain the age of 3 on or before September 1st.
- 4K. A child must attain the age of 4 on or before September 1st.
- Kindergarten A child shall have attained the age of five (5) years on or before September 1st. This includes children who have been enrolled in pre-school programs, i.e. 3K and 4K. Participation in a school's 4K program does not ensure acceptance into Kindergarten.
- First Grade: A child shall have attained the age of six (6) years on or before September 1st.

The child's birth certificate shall be required for verification of age before he/she is enrolled. An exception may be made by the principal if children (1) have been enrolled in the first grade in another state prior to transferring to a school in Texas or (2) have attended a full school term in a Kindergarten program in another state that admits children who are under five years of age into the Kindergarten program.

The ability of a new student to achieve at a specific grade level, particularly when he/she is entering from a non-accredited school, shall be determined by conference

with the parents and with the former teacher (if possible) and/or by the results of a standardized achievement test/evaluation which the receiving school administers.

5050 NON-PARENT/NON-LEGAL GUARDIAN ENROLLMENT & DECISION MAKING

If a non-parent/non-custodial guardian wishes to enroll a child in a school of the Diocese, or make decisions on behalf of the child, they must provide valid Authorization Agreement for Voluntary Adult Caregiver that conforms with chapter 34 of the Texas Family Code authorizing them to enroll the child or make certain other decisions on behalf of the child. If the child is 18 or will be 18 during the school year, the non-parent/non-custodial guardian must contact the principal / president. Their enrollment will be considered on a case-by-case basis. This includes any decisions being made during the school year.

An Authorization Agreement for Voluntary Adult Caregiver is the proper "minor power of attorney" promulgated by the State of Texas. The Authorization Agreement for Voluntary Adult Caregiver can be found at https://www.dfps.state.tx.us/site_map/forms.asp

Diocese Appeal 5220

If the parent or the guardian wishes to appeal the principal's expulsion decision, a written appeal must be mailed to the Superintendent of Schools within five (5) days from the date the parent or guardian is notified of the principal's expulsion decision. The Superintendent's decision will be conveyed to the parent or guardian by either the electronic email on file with the school, the home address on file with the school, or by meeting in person, electronically, or telephonically. The decision of the Superintendent is final and is not subject to any other appeal, grievance, mediation, or conciliation process of the Diocese.

5212 REQUIREMENTS FOR INDIVIDUALS WISHING TO COME ON SCHOOL PROPERTY OR ATTEND SCHOOL ACTIVITIES

Parents and other individuals are welcome to visit the schools of the Diocese and to attend school sponsored activities. During school hours, all parents and visitors entering the school property, other than to deliver or to pick up the child, must first go to the school office, sign in and obtain a visitor's badge. Obtaining a school badge does not allow an individual to disrupt a teacher during class time or visit the class room during class. In order to visit the classroom during class, written permission from the principal stating the reason for the visit must be obtained in advance. Generally, two (2) days' advance notice is required, but if circumstances permit and the reasons are warranted, principals may establish either a longer or shorter period. The principal will respond to the request either approving the request with possible restrictions or denying the request. Teachers are to refer any parent visiting the classroom without the approval of the Principal to the school office and the parent will be asked to leave the school immediately.

An individual who (1) has been convicted of sex related crimes or a crime involving a minor and (2) does not have a child or grandchild attending the school is not welcome on the school property or to attend school sponsored activities. A parent or grandparent of a child attending the school and who (1) has been previously convicted of a sex related crime or a crime involving a minor and (2) wants to visit the school or to attend a school sponsored activity must submit a written request to the principal prior to the anticipated visit. Generally, at least five (5) school-days' advance notice is required and the request must provide the school with written documentation concerning each such conviction, including but not limited to all details concerning probationary status or restrictions. The principal will respond to the request either approving the request with restrictions or denying the request. If the individual is allowed to come on to the school property or to attend a school sponsored activity, the school will provide the individual with the written conditions for the visit, which may include supervision by school personnel during the time of the visit. If the individual fails to comply with the written conditions established by the school, then the individual will be denied permission to be on school property and/or to attend school sponsored activities.

Companies who provide contracted services to the school are required to give letters of recommendation on behalf of each contracted employee as well as provide appropriate documentation that each employee has completed a criminal background check. Under no circumstances will a company send the school a contracted employee who has been previously convicted of a crime involving a minor. Failure by companies providing contracted services to comply with these procedures and the safe environment policy as established by the Diocese of Fort Worth may be considered breach of contract and result in termination of the contract.

More detail regarding this issue can be obtained in the Diocese of Fort Worth Safe Environment Policy and Code of Conduct.

5217 STATUTORY NOTIFICATION OF A SCHOOL OF THE ARREST OF A STUDENT

Article 15.27 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure requires the police to give a private school, in which a child is enrolled, oral or written notification that the child has been arrested for a felony or certain misdemeanors.

- (h) This article applies to any felony offense and the following misdemeanors:
 - (1) an offense under Section 20.02 [Unlawful Restraint], 21.08 [Indecent Exposure], 22.01 [Assault], 22.05 [Deadly Conduct], 22.07 [Terroristic Threat], or 71.02 [Engaging in Organized Crime], Penal Code;
 - (2) the unlawful use, sale, or possession of a controlled substance, drug paraphernalia, or marihuana, as defined by Chapter 481, Health and Safety Code; or
 - (3) the unlawful possession of any of the weapons or devices listed in Sections 46.01(1)-(14) or (16), Penal Code, or a weapon listed as a prohibited weapon under Section 46.05, Penal Code."

The oral or written notification required by Article 15.27 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure or any other statute, to a school, that a student has been arrested for a felony or misdemeanor that the law requires the police to notify the school of the arrest is grounds for the expulsion of the student from the school.

5218 REGISTERED SEX OFFENDERS

No individual, who is required to register as a sex offender under Chapter 62, Code of Criminal Procedure, or any other statute, may be a student. Any student, who is required to register as a sex offender, shall be expelled from the school.

5230 WITHDRAWAL AND TRANSFER

<u>WITHDRAWAL</u> is the voluntary termination of a student's enrollment by the parents or guardian without provision for enrollment in another school. Students should be encouraged to complete their education if at all possible.

<u>TRANSFER</u> is the voluntary termination of a student's enrollment by the parents or guardian with provision for the student to be enrolled in another school. A parent or guardian may decide to transfer a student at any time and for any reason or the principal and parents may mutually agree that the needs of a student will best be served in another school setting.

It should be noted that Withdrawal and Transfer are considered to be voluntary on the part of the parents or guardian.

The records of a student who has had the privilege of attending a Catholic school and was withdrawn because of the disruptive influence caused by the student's parent shall show that the student withdrew or transferred, unless the parent refuses to remove the student from the school after having been notified that the student is to transfer to another school. In this case, the student will be expelled and their records will reflect the expulsion.

IMPLEMENTATION

When a student withdraws or transfers, a notation of the fact is made, as required, on all necessary records and correspondence.

In some cases, a student's academic, emotional, or social needs might be better served in an alternate academic setting. The principal or counselor should advise the parents of the availability of such alternatives. A mutual agreement to transfer, reached out of sincere concern for the student, is preferable to utilization of suspension or expulsion procedures. A school may require a student either to transfer or to withdraw when the conduct of the parent of the student is disruptive to the school, or to a teacher in the school.

In the case of a transfer, the principal shall complete an Exit Report and give it to the parents or guardian together with the student's report card and health card. In the case of a transfer between Catholic schools, the principal must call the principal of the previous school BEFORE interviewing, testing, or registering the student. Communication between Catholic school administrators is necessary regarding expulsion, transfers, and withdrawals among Diocesan schools. The Catholic Schools Office must be contacted. If the family has an outstanding balance at the previous school, then that must be cleared before the student may be accepted at another school in the system.

Should the receiving school request it, additional information is to be provided and/or a <u>copy</u> of the permanent record may be sent <u>directly</u> to the receiving school by the previous school. (See Policy 5260.)

5235 REIMBURSEMENT FOR SCHOOL COSTS AND ATTORNEYS' FEES

The School recognizes the financial sacrifice many of its families make to participate in the school community. Out of respect for this sacrifice and in recognition of the School's responsibility to wisely steward financial resources for the benefit of all members of the school community, the School has implemented the following policy:

From time to time, the School is required to retain outside legal counsel to respond to parent requests or demands, attorney requests or demands on behalf of a parent or student, requests or subpoenas for testimony or documents in legal proceedings to which the School is not a party, or to address other issues affecting or involving only one or a few students or families. In such situations, the School is typically required to expend finite financial resources to address an issue which otherwise affects only a very small portion of the school community. To ensure that the school community at large is not adversely impacted in such situations, the School will, when the chief administrator of the School in his or her sole discretion deems it appropriate, require the family or families involved to reimburse the School for attorney's fees, costs of court, and other expenses incurred.

Accordingly, each person who acknowledges his or her agreements to the contents of this Handbook, either by written or electronic signature or by enrolling a student in the School, agrees that, in the School's absolute and sole discretion, he or she shall indemnify and reimburse the School and its officers, employees, agents, and representative ("Indemnitees") on demand from and for any and all attorneys' fees and related costs, including without limitation the cost of responding to parent or attorney requests or demands, requests for documents or other records or information arising from, in connection with, or related to 1) a violation of any provision of this Handbook, 2) any request or demand made upon the School which pertains to a legal proceeding or dispute to which the School is not a party, 3) threatening or harassing communications directed to any Indemnitee, or 4) threatened or actual litigation against any Indemnitee which does not result in a final and appealable judgement adverse to the Indemnitee.

5280 HUMAN SEXUALITY

Reasons for a Policy on Human Sexuality

As the Congregation for Catholic Education noted in its 2019 instruction entitled "Male and Female He Created Them" Towards a Path of Dialogue on the Question of Gender Theory in Education, "It is becoming increasingly clear that we are now facing with what might accurately be called an educational crisis, especially in the field of affectivity and sexuality" (Male and

Female, #1). It expounded upon the scope of the crisis stemming from an emerging radical view of human sexuality, noting:

The context in which the mission of education is carried out is characterized by challenges emerging from varying forms of an ideology that is given the general name 'gender theory', which "denies the difference and reciprocity in nature of a man and a woman and envisages a society without sexual differences, thereby eliminating the anthropological basis of the family. This ideology leads to educational programmes and legislative enactments that promote a personal identity and emotional intimacy radically separated from the biological difference between male and female. Consequently, human identity becomes the choice of the individual, one which can also change over time." (Male and Female, #2) (internal citation omitted)

Our dignity and creation in the image and likeness of God, Christian anthropology, a proper understanding of human sexuality, and the essential importance of our sexuality and sexual identity as assigned by God are authoritatively and definitively revealed in Sacred Scripture and the teachings of the Catholic Church. (see Genesis 1:27; see Male and Female; see Catechism of the Catholic Church ("CCC"), #355-373, 2331-2372). As all entities of the Catholic Church are for the purpose of furthering the saving mission of Jesus Christ, they must operate in accord with the truth revealed by God in both natural law and divine revelation. In particular, our Catholic schools must remain in the fullness of the truth and charity in order to carry out their proper mission:

Since true education must strive for complete formation of the human person that looks to his or her final end as well as to the common good of societies, children and youth are to be nurtured in such a way that they are able to develop their physical, moral, and intellectual talents harmoniously, acquire a more perfect sense of responsibility and right use of freedom, and are formed to participate actively in social life. (*Code of Canon Law*, c. 795)

These truths extend into every facet of our lives, including – and perhaps especially – our sexuality.

Regarding sexuality and sexual identity, the Catechism of the Catholic Church states: "By creating the human being man and woman, God gives personal dignity equally to the one and the other. Each of them, man and woman, should acknowledge and accept his sexual identity." (CCC, #2393). By its very nature, sexuality is ordered to the conjugal love of a man and woman within the bond of marriage (c. 1055). And marriage, which is a partnership of the whole of life, is always ordered by its very nature to both the good of the spouses and the procreation and education of children (*Ibid.*). All persons are called to chastity, to be lived out according to one's state in life (CCC, #2337-2359).

These teachings of the Church are not mere antiquated notions. In fact, Pope Francis has repeatedly stressed the importance of a proper understanding of our sexuality, warning of the challenge posed by "the various forms of an ideology of gender that denies the difference and reciprocity in nature of a man and a woman and envisages a society without sexual differences (Amoris Laetitia ("AL"), #56). Pope Francis further notes that "biological sex and the sociocultural role of sex (gender) can be distinguished but not separated," and that although we must always be "understanding of human weakness and the complexities of life," that does not require us to "accept ideologies that attempt to sunder what are inseparable aspects of reality" (Ibid.). Ultimately, "[w]e are creatures, and not omnipotent," and we must accept and respect our humanity "as it was created" (Ibid.; see also Gen. 1:27, Matthew 19:4, and Mark 10:6). Pope

Francis then stresses that "the young need to be helped to accept their own body as it was created," so that "we can joyfully accept the specific gifts of another man or woman, the work of God the Creator" (AL, #285).

As Pope Francis notes, we must always respect the sacred dignity of each individual person, which means that the Church cannot and must not accept the confused notions of gender ideology. We must not demean or deny the sincerity and struggle of those who experience samesex attraction or who feel their true gender identity is different from their biological sex. Rather, we seek to accompany and to lead them on their journey of life, offering them the light of the Gospel as they try to find their way forward. These truths are not merely faith-based; rather, such realities are also knowable through the use of properly functioning senses and right reason (Pope St. John Paul II, Fides et Ratio, #22). We do not serve anyone's greater good by denying or falsifying the truth, for it is only the truth that frees us for the full life that God offers to each of us. Thus, when a person experiences either same-sex attraction or some form of gender dysphoria, such struggles do not change the biological fact of how God immutably created that person, and it would be untruthful for the Catholic Church or our Catholic schools to pretend otherwise. To pretend otherwise would contradict sound scientific evidence, reason, the nature of the human person, and key tenets of the Catholic faith (see National Catholic Bioethics Center, Brief Statement on Transgenderism). Therefore, the policies of our Catholic schools must respectfully uphold these fundamental truths.

5281 BULLYING/HARASSMENT/VIOLENCE AND HUMAN SEXUALITY

All persons have inherent human dignity and are thus deserving of innate respect and love as a person. Bullying, harassment, or threats or acts of violence against any student based on that student's perceived sex, sexual orientation, or gender identity will not be tolerated (see above, sections 5290).

5282 CHASTITY

All persons are called to chastity in accordance with their state in life. For purposes of the school environment, chastity also encompasses modesty in language, appearance, dress, and behavior. Accordingly, romantic or sexual displays of affection are in principle not permitted at school.

5283 SEXUAL ORIENTATION AND SAME-SEX ATTRACTION

Students may not advocate, celebrate, or express same-sex attraction in such a way that is contrary to the authentic teachings of the Catholic faith, or that causes confusion, disruption, or distraction in the context of Catholic school classes, activities, or events. When discussing homosexuality or homosexual inclinations, the use of the term "same-sex attraction" is preferred, as it is a more appropriate description in accordance with the truths of Catholic faith and morals.

5284 GENDER DYSPHORIA (TRANSGENDERISM)

Everyone, man and woman, should acknowledge and accept his sexual *identity*. (CCC, #2333)

By creating the human being man and woman, God gives personal dignity equally to the one and the other. Each of them, man and woman, should acknowledge and accept his sexual identity. (CCC, #2393)

All students are expected to conduct themselves at school, at all school functions, and while representing the school at outside functions in a manner consistent with their biological sex as given to them by God. All students are to avoid behaviors associated with the attempt to redefine their God-given sex. Schools shall consider the gender of all students as being consistent with their God-given biological sex for all purposes, including, but not limited to, the following: eligibility for and participation in school athletics and single-sex curricular and extracurricular activities; school-sponsored dances; dress and uniform policies; the use of changing facilities, showers, locker rooms, and bathrooms; titles, names, and pronouns; and official school documents. If a student's expression of gender, sexual identity, or sexuality should be in conflict with the teachings of the Catholic faith, cause confusion or disruption at the school, mislead others, cause scandal, or have the potential for causing scandal, then the matter will first be discussed with the student and a parent or guardian of the student. If the issue is not resolved to the satisfaction of the school, whose primary goal must always be to uphold and to teach Catholic truths, principles, and doctrine, then the student may be dismissed from the school, after the parent/guardian is first given the opportunity to withdraw the student from the school. If a student is dismissed from the school under this policy, then the school will refund the unused portion of prepaid tuition on a pro rata basis.

5285 ATHLETICS & OTHER EXTRA CURRICULARS

Eligibility for athletics and single-sex curricular/extracurricular activities is based upon the Godgiven biological sex of the student.

5286 FACILITIES USE

Utilization by faculty, staff, students, or any visitors of school facilities, including but not limited to locker rooms, showers, restrooms, and overnight accommodations, will align with the person's God-given biological sex. School facilities are dedicated to the mission of Catholic education and may not be used by any member of the school community or any external organization or individual for any purpose or cause that is contrary to Catholic teaching or otherwise opposed to the Catholic Church.

5287 FORMAL TITLES AND NAMES

School personnel will address students by the name listed on the official school registration (or its common derivative) and the pronouns correlating to their God-given biological sex.

5288 MISSION INTEGRITY

Schools are to exercise their responsibility to teach Catholic faith and morals in the fullness of truth and charity, especially as expressed in the *Catechism of the Catholic Church*. As such, pastors, catechists, and other ministers of the faith (i.e., teachers, counselors, coaches, and school administrators) are called to meet people where they are to accompany and guide them to the Truth of the Catholic Faith.

Parents/guardians and non-Catholics whose religious practices or beliefs run counter to Catholic teaching might experience possible conflicts as mission integrity is maintained. Sincere questioning of the practices or teachings of the Catholic faith in order to more deeply understand them are acceptable and welcomed if done respectfully; however, hostile, disrespectful, or defiant challenge of Catholic practice or teaching, or the living of a lifestyle, engaging in other conduct, or advocacy of a matter that is contrary to Catholic practice or teaching, are signs that a student,

parent, staff, or faculty member may not be a fit for the school's primary evangelical mission and may be denied admission or dismissed therefor.

5289 OFFICIAL SCHOOL DOCUMENTS

Diplomas, transcripts, school records, and any other official documents of the school ("official school documents") shall be issued in conformity with the student's God-given biological sex. Official school documents are also historical documents and, as such, must accurately reflect the name and identity of the alumnus/alumna during the time in which he/she was enrolled at and graduated from the school. If after graduation an alumnus/alumna legally changes his/her name, for whatever reason, and requests new versions of his/her official school documents, the official school documents may be issued in the following format: "Original Name, n/k/a. New Legal Name."

5290 DRESS

Students must dress appropriately in accordance with their God-given biological sex while on campus, at all school functions, and while representing the school at outside functions.

5315 SUBSTANCE ABUSE POLICY

As a Catholic school, our faith calls us to treasure our dignity as human beings. We are also a family community and our concern for the health, safety, and welfare of our students and families is paramount. It is important that our students' welfare be continuously protected -- including after the school day ends, on weekends, and throughout the year. The use of illegal substances by students damages their spiritual well-being, performance, and development. Rooted in our concern for the welfare of our students and families, this substance abuse policy supports our mission of seeking truth, developing personal responsibility, and encouraging the full use of the gifts God gives to each developing young person.

Students are expected to avoid the use of tobacco products, consumption of alcohol, and use of drugs. The use of tobacco, alcohol, and other illegal substances negatively affects the growth of young people, subjects students and parents to potential criminal and legal jeopardy, harms student health, disrupts the educational process, endangers others, and negatively affects the reputation of the school community. To be successful, this policy requires the support of the entire school community, which includes students, parents, faculty, staff, and administration sharing in a spirit of cooperation, honesty, accountability, and responsibility.

IMPLEMENTATION

A student who possesses, uses, distributes, or exercises custody or control over alcohol, drugs (including controlled substances), or drug paraphernalia, whether on or off campus, may face disciplinary action, including but not limited to losing the privilege of participating in extracurricular activities or athletic programs, probation, suspension, or expulsion from school. In addition, the student may be required to submit to a random drug test (or ongoing random drug testing) or undergo a drug/alcohol screening and assessment at an agency approved by the School, at the expense of the student or the student's parent/guardian. Parents/guardians must sign a release of information consent form so that results of the assessment can be shared with the School. School administration must receive the assessment and recommendations from the agency. If requested by the School, the student must agree to follow a treatment plan.

A student suspected of being under the influence of drugs or alcohol, including while at school or at a school-related event, may be required to submit to a school-approved drug test or breathalyzer test. If the test returns a positive result, disciplinary action will be taken. A student who refuses to submit to a drug test or breathalyzer test when requested by the School will be deemed to have given a positive test result or be under the influence, and disciplinary action will be taken.

Students do not have an expectation of privacy in any property or items brought onto School premises or to school-related events. The School reserves the right to search lockers, coats, bags, automobiles, and other personal belongings of students at the School or at school-related events. Students who do not cooperate with the search or search request will be subject to disciplinary action.

The refusal of the student, or a parent/guardian of the student, to comply with this policy or submit to the School's requirements or requests will result in disciplinary action, which may include losing the privilege of participating in extracurricular activities or athletic programs, probation, suspension, or expulsion from school.

6200 USE OF TECHNOLOGY

Access to the technology resources in the Catholic schools of the Diocese of Fort Worth, including the Internet, shall be made available primarily for instructional and administrative purposes. Access to the school's computers, network, and Internet resources is a privilege, not a right. All users shall have the responsibility to use the equipment and software with care and to comply with the Diocese's Acceptable Use Policy. Teachers may grant students access to the school's technology as deemed appropriate by the teacher. Users of the school's technology shall not purposefully access materials that are considered an Unacceptable Use as defined hereinafter. Individuals making an Unacceptable Use of the school's technology will be subject to disciplinary action, which may include, but not be limited to, termination of employment or expulsion from the school.

ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY

INTERNET TERMS, CONDITIONS, AND REGULATIONS

It is the policy of the Catholic schools of the Diocese of Fort Worth to require the Acceptable Use of the Internet and related technologies by all employees, volunteers, patrons, guests, and students as set forth below. Access privileges may be revoked; disciplinary action may be taken, and/or appropriate legal action taken for any Unacceptable Use of the school's technology.

- 1. Acceptable Use The use of the Internet and related technologies must be in support of education and research and consistent with the educational objectives of the Catholic schools of the Diocese of Fort Worth. Use of other organizations' networks or computing resources must comply with the rules appropriate for the networks.
- **2. Unacceptable Use -** The term "Unacceptable Use" as used herein shall include, but not be limited to, the following prohibited acts:
 - transmission or the receipt of any material in violation of any U. S. or state regulation including, but is not limited to, copyright material, threatening, violent, or obscene

material, or material protected by trade secret;

- use for commercial activities, product advertisement, political lobbying, game playing, unauthorized "chat," or chain letter communication;
- pornography, information on bombs, inappropriate language and communications, and flame letters:
- acts of vandalism, any malicious attempt to harm or destroy data or another user or to damage hardware or software, the uploading or creation of computer viruses, and
- unauthorized use of another's computer, access accounts, and/or files.
- 3. Privileges—The use of the Internet and related technologies is a privilege, not a right, and Unacceptable Use may result in cancellation of the privilege and may subject the individual to disciplinary action, which may include, but not be limited to termination of employment or, expulsion from the school. Each user who is provided access to Internet and related technologies will participate in a training session with assigned staff person(s) concerning the proper use of the network. The faculty, staff, or parent/guardian may request the administrator or designee to deny, revoke, or suspend a specific user's access to the Internet and related technologies.
- **4. Copyright**—It is the policy of the Catholic schools of the Diocese of Fort Worth that all employees, volunteers, patrons, guests, and students will abide by the federal copyright laws. Employees, volunteers, patrons, guests, and students may, with the school's permission, copy print or non-print acceptable use materials allowed by:
 - * Copyright law
 - * Fair use guidelines
 - * Specific licenses or contractual agreements
 - * Other types of permission

Employees, volunteers, patrons, guests, and students who willfully disregard copyright law are in violation of the policy of the Catholic schools of the Diocese of Fort Worth; they do so at their own risk and assume all liability.

5. Other

- ** Network accounts are to be used only by the authorized owner of the account for the authorized purpose.
- ** Users shall not intentionally seek information on, obtain copies of, or modify files, other data or passwords belonging to other users, or misrepresent other users on the network.
- ** Malicious use of the network to develop programs that harass other users or infiltrate a computer or computing system and/or damage the software or hardware components of a computer or computing system is prohibited.

** Prior approval is required from the school for List serves use by or for Employees, volunteers, patrons, guests, and students.

ELECTRONIC AND/OR DIGITAL COMMUNICATIONS POLICY

Electronic and/or digital communications with students, and staff members should be conducted for educationally appropriate purposes using school sanctioned communications methods. The school sanctioned communications methods are: teacher school web pages such as the school website, Moodle, or School Notes, teacher school email, teacher school phone and educationally focused networking sites such as Churchwerks. The term "Staff member" as used herein shall mean all employees of a school,

Staff members in their normal responsibilities and duties may be required to contact parents outside of the school day. A staff member is free to contact parents using e-mail, a home phone, personal cell phone or other appropriate electronic or digital devices. Staff members are to contact parents, not students, when they need to disseminate information for the student's benefit. Staff members should not purposely distribute a home phone number or a personal cell phone number to students.

Staff members are not to contact students directly by electronic and/or digital communications. If a staff member contacts a student, other than by a school sanctioned communications methods, using electronic devices, including, but not limited to, personal phone or cell phone, email, texting or networking sites, the student shall immediately notify the student's parents about the contact and the student's parents shall immediately reported the contact to the principal or to other proper school authorities.

Students are not to contact a staff member, other than by school sanctioned communications methods. If a student contacts a staff member, other than by school sanctioned communications methods, using electronic devices, including, but not limited to, personal phone or cell phone, email, texting or networking sites, the staff member shall immediately report the contact to the principal or to other proper school authority who shall immediately notify the parents of the student concerning the communication by the student to the Staff member.

6205 ONLINE SOCIAL MEDIA

Although this policy closely mirrors the Diocesan policy on social media, due to the special, privileged and powerful relationship between a Catholic school and its parents and students, sections of this policy are more restrictive. The first legal duty of a Catholic school is to keep those entrusted to them safe.

The Catholic schools of the Diocese of Fort Worth acknowledge the right of employees to use personal websites, social networks, wikis, weblogs and other emerging technologies not only as a form of self-expression, and, in their individual capacity, as a means to further the work of the Church. Additionally, the same rules that apply to school employee's messaging and communications in traditional media apply in the online social media space. This specifically means that teachers and all school staff, including substitutes and volunteers, are never to use social media to directly communicate, interact or respond directly to students unless that social media is operated, controlled and directed by the school itself. Simply because the development and implementation of an online social media program can be fast, easy, and inexpensive does not mean that different rules apply. School employees should bear in mind that posting of certain comments, photos, links or references to third party websites and information on websites, social

networks, wikis and weblogs may have a harmful effect on the Church and its schools, their reputation, and their employees.

In light of this possibility, school employees are required to adhere to the following policy regarding the use of personal and professional websites, social networks, wikis, weblogs and other emerging technologies. This policy supports other related Diocesan and school policies, including Acceptable Technology Use and the *Code of Conduct & Behavior Standards for All Clergy*, *Religious and Lay Ministers*.

- School employees may only access websites, weblogs, wikis and social networks for legitimate professional job-related purposes during the workday with the approval of their direct supervisor. School employees are not to create, post or otherwise access weblogs, personal social networks, wikis or personal websites for personal use during normal school working hours. Employees should exercise sound judgment and common sense to prevent online social media sites from becoming a distraction at work.
- If you identify yourself as an employee of a Catholic school on a personal website, weblog or social network, you must make it clear to your readers that the views you express are yours alone and that your views do not necessarily reflect the views of the Diocese or its schools. In the event that you identify yourself as an employee of a Catholic school on a personal website, weblog, wiki or social network, to help reduce the potential for confusion, you are required to put the following notice in a reasonable prominent place on your site (e.g., at the bottom of your personal profile page) in at least a size 12 font bolded:

"The views expressed on this website/weblog/social network are mine alone and do not necessarily reflect the views of my employer."

- School employees are prohibited from disclosing on personal or professional websites, weblogs, wikis or social networks, any information that is confidential or proprietary to the Diocese, its schools or to any third party that has disclosed information to the Diocese or its schools.
- The school has exclusive ownership rights with respect to certain concepts and developments you produce that are related to school business. Employees may not use school trademarks on their site or reproduce any school materials or logos. Please consult with your principal if you have questions about appropriateness of publishing anything that may be related to the school on your site.
- School employees may not use the copyrights, trademarks, rights of publicity, and other third-party rights in the online social media space, including with regard to user-generated content (UGC), without the necessary permissions of the rightsholder(s).
- School employees are prohibited from providing a link or otherwise referring to the school website on their personal website, social networks, wikis or weblogs without consulting with and obtaining the approval of the principal of the specific school.
- School employees shall not allow any obscene, harassing, offensive, derogatory or
 defamatory comments and images which reflects/discredits or causes embarrassment to
 the Diocese and its schools, their employees, patrons, vendors, partners, affiliates,
 agencies, students, and others on personal, the school's and professional websites, any
 other social networks, wikis or weblogs.
- All social media being used by Catholic entities must be clearly branded in order provide institutional authority as well as avoid confusion. Unless you have been officially

authorized in writing to speak or act on behalf of a Catholic entity, employees are prohibited to use such brandings or create secondary social media sites that give the illusion of being authoritative.

- All social media used by Catholic entities must comply with the Minimum Social Media Requirements contained in Policy 6210.
- The school reserves the right to regularly monitor any and all schools based computers. In addition, it is the policy of the Catholic schools of the Diocese of Fort Worth that every portable information/data storage device used by a school staff member or student may be examined at any time because it may contain something dangerous.
- The school reserves the right to monitor professional websites, social networks, wikis or weblogs created on school computers during the course of a normal workday, or on school computers on personal time.
- Once information is published online, it is essentially part of a permanent record, even if you "remove/delete" it later or attempt to make it anonymous. If your complete thought, along with its context, cannot be squeezed into a character-restricted space (such as Twitter), provide a link to an online space where the message can be expressed completely and accurately.
- The school requires that you confine your personal website, social network or weblog commentary to topics unrelated to the Diocese or its schools (or in certain cases, that you temporarily suspend your website or weblog activity altogether) if it believes this is necessary or advisable to ensure compliance with this policy or federal and state laws.
- School employees will comply with all aspects of the Children's Online Private Protection Act (COPPA). Employees are forbidden to post or distribute personal identifiable information including pictures on any child under the age of eighteen without parental consent. Personal identifiable information includes name, home address, email address, telephone number or any information that would allow someone to identify or contact a child. If written verifiable consent is obtained from a parent, it is important that the parent has approved the information that is to be provided and has full knowledge of its use, purpose and how the information is going to be provided. Likewise, parents should be made aware that the school is making use of only school controlled websites, social networks, weblogs and other emerging technologies to communicate with students.
- School employees will model safe and effective use of technology for students including developmentally appropriate instructions on responsibility associated with the use of technology and the possible dangers associated with technology.

School employees who violate this Online Social Media policy will be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including termination. If you have questions about this policy or any matter related to your site that this policy does not address, please consult with the principal of your school.

6210 THE MINIMUM SOCIAL MEDIA REQUIREMENTS

The following guidelines are required for schools wishing to establish social media. These requirements apply to all current and future social media, including but not limited to websites, wikis, Facebook, Twitter, blogs and other emerging technologies.

- Site administrators must be adults and/or approved employees of the school
- There must be at least two site administrators for each site to allow for rapid response and continuous monitoring and updating of the site.
- All social media must be reviewed by the principal or the pastor before implementation to ensure it is not in conflict with current standards, policies and Catholic teachings.
- Personal sites shall not be used in connection with school programs or to communicate with students. Students are defined as any and all students enrolled in a Catholic school in the Diocese of Fort Worth.
- Passwords, names of the sites and the site addresses or site location information shall be registered in a central location in the school and at least two (2) adults must have access to this information.
- In establishing a school site, know and abide by these key "Rules of the Road":
 - o Abide by all diocesan, parish and/or school guidelines
 - o All communication by school employees reflect on the Church and the school
 - Do not claim or in any way give the impression or the appearance representing the official position of the school or the teachings of the Church, unless you have written authorized to do so.
 - o All school social media sites shall be clearly branded and identified to provide institutional authority and to avoid confusion.
 - O Abide by all copyright, fair use and financial disclosure laws.
 - Never divulge confidential information.
 - Do not cite others, post photographs or videos of other individuals or link to their material without express written approval. Media involving minors must have written parental approval.
 - o Practice Christian charity.

Firearms and Weapons Policy

PURSUANT TO SECTION 30.06, PENAL CODE (TRESPASS BY LICENSE HOLDER WITH A CONCEALED HANDGUN) A PERSON LICENSED UNDER SUBCHAPTER H, CHAPTER 411, GOVERNMENT CODE (HANDGUN LICENSING LAW), MAY NOT ENTER THIS PROPERTY WITH A CONCEALED HANDGUN.

CONFORME A LA SECCIÓN 30.06 DEL CÓDIGO PENAL (TRASPASAR PORTANDO ARMAS DE FUEGO) PERSONAS CON LICENCIA BAJO DEL SUBCAPITULO H, CAPITULO 411, CODIGO DE GOBIERNO (LEY DE PORTAR ARMAS), NO DEBEN ENTRAR A ESTA PROPIEDAD PORTANDO UN ARMA DE FUEGO.

PURSUANT TO SECTION 30.07, PENAL CODE (TRESPASS BY LICENSE HOLDER WITH AN OPENLY CARRIED HANDGUN), A PERSON LICENSED UNDER SUBCHAPTER H, CHAPTER 411, GOVERNMENT CODE (HANDGUN LICENSING LAW), MAY NOT ENTER THIS PROPERTY WITH A HANDGUN THAT IS CARRIED OPENLY.

DE CONFORMIDAD CON LA SECCIÓN 30.07, DEL CÓDIGO PENAL (TRASPASO DE UNA PERSONA CON LICENCIA CON UNA ARMA DE FUEGO VISIBLE), UNA PERSONA CON LICENCIA BAJO EL SUBCAPÍTULO H, CAPÍTULO 411, DEL CÓDIGO DE GOBIERNO (LEY DE LICENCIAS DE ARMAS DE FUEGO), NO PODRÁ ENTRAR A ESTA PROPIEDAD CON UNA ARMA DE FUEGO QUE SEA LLEVADA VISIBLEMENTE.

ST. JOSEPH CATHOLIC SCHOOL POLICIES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Policies:

Official Policy #1 – Admission Policy

Official Policy #2 – Tuition Rate Policy

Official Policy #3 – Registration Fee Policy

Official Policy #4 – Payment of Tuition Policy

Official Policy #5 – Tuition Refund Policy

Official Policy #6 – Bank Accounts Policy

Official Policy #7 – Attendance Policy

Official Policy #8 – Uniform Policy

Official Policy #9 – Field Trip Policy

Official Policy #10 – Family Service Hours

Official Policy #11 – St. Joseph Facility Use

Official Policy #12 – Use of Alcoholic Drinks

Official Policy #13 – Student Records

Official Policy #14 – Home and School Membership and Dues

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #1

ADMISSION POLICY

St. Joseph Catholic School is available to all students without regard to race, color or national origin. The admission procedures are developed and reviewed by the school's administration on a yearly basis.

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #2

TUITION RATE AND ENTRANCE PRIORITY POLICY

The school's administration will annually establish tuition rates for the St. Joseph Catholic School families. The preferred rate will be for Catholic families and a separate rate will be for non-Catholic families.

Registration priority will be given to those Catholic families that are registered with St. Matthew, St. Vincent, St. Joseph, St. Jude, Most Blessed Sacrament, St. Mary, and the Vietnamese Martyrs.

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #3

REGISTRATION FEE POLICY

The registration fee established by the school's administration is due at the time of registration. A student's registration fee is non-refundable **unless** St. Joseph Catholic School cannot admit or accommodate the student.

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #4

POLICY FOR PAYMENT OF TUITION AND FEES

The prompt payment of tuition and fees facilitates the sound financial operations of our school. Therefore, it is necessary that parents are faithful in meeting their financial obligations.

- Students whose total tuition and fees for the current school year has not been paid by June 5th may be rejected for enrollment in the following school year.
- St. Joseph Catholic School requires that each family by June 5th pay in full for tuition or have a FACTS Payment Plan on file for the following school year.

- A family who does not comply by June 5th may be required to give up the reserved place for its child(ren). For students enrolled prior to June 5th, a late fee will be assessed by the school administration for tuition payments made after June 5th. A family currently enrolled with a FACTS Payment Plan who is chronically delinquent is subject to immediate expulsion from the school. "Chronically delinquent" is defined as behind two or more months in tuition payment.
- A family that has a FACTS Payment Plan must make both the July and August payments before their child may attend school in August.
- Payments to FACTS are due on the 5th of each month from July to April (10 payments per school year). If the payment has not been made by the 25th of any month, the child may not be allowed to return to school until the payment is made.
- If a family is unable to pay their installment tuition payments through FACTS because of emergencies, it is the family's responsibility to promptly contact a member of the school administration. The school administration will develop with the family an alternative tuition payment plan to address the family emergency.
- Students whose families have unpaid school fees at the time of registration may be denied registration and may be required to give up the reserved place(s) for the student(s).

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #5

TUITION REFUND POLICY

St. Joseph Catholic School requires tuition payment in full on or before 5 June for the upcoming school year. In general, tuition is non-refundable. If, however a student leaves before the second semester of the school year begins, one-half (50%) of the student's full tuition payment will be refunded. Except in extreme circumstances, such as the case where the School's Principal determines that the school cannot meet the needs of a particular student, no other tuition refund is available. The decision whether to grant any tuition refund because of extreme circumstances will be made by the principal.

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #6

BANK ACCOUNTS POLICY

- A. No School-related bank accounts may be opened or maintained without the prior approval of the Principal.
- B. All School-related bank accounts will be reviewed and reconciled by the Finance Committee on a regular basis.
- C. Only the Principal or the Principal's designees will have signing authority on all school-related accounts.

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #7

ATTENDANCE POLICY

Regular attendance is an essential component of the educational process. According to Diocesan policy, chronic absenteeism or chronic tardiness may be grounds for suspension or expulsion.

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #8

UNIFORM POLICY

Unless authorized by the Principal, all students must wear approved uniforms. Uniforms must be purchased from the company or companies designated by the School.

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #9

FIELD TRIP POLICY

All students of St. Joseph Catholic School participating in field trips must have a signed permission slip approved by the Administration from his or her parent/guardian prior to participating in the field trip.

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #10

FAMILY SERVICE HOURS POLICY

In order to meet certain needs of the school, without increasing the already existing yearly burden to adjust tuition, the following policy is deemed to be in the best interest of Saint Joseph Catholic School and our families:

1. Each family is required either to perform 40 service hours to St. Joseph Catholic School or pay a "short fall" payment as outlined below. If a family chooses to perform the 40 service hours, they are considered volunteers and are required to adhere to the diocesan policy on volunteers (see below). This requirement applies to each school year.

- 2. Families who do not satisfy the required number of service hours shall be charged a "short fall" payment. For purposes of determining the amount of the short fall payment, the following values shall be used: the first 20 hours of service shall carry a value of \$10.00 per hour and the remaining 20 hours shall carry a value of \$5.00 per hour. For example, if a family provides 35 service hours, falling 5 hours short of the 40-hour requirement, the family shall owe to the School the amount of \$25.00 (5 hours at \$5.00/hr.). If a family provides 5 service hours, falling 35 hours short of the required amount, the family shall owe the School the amount of \$250.00 (15 hours at \$10/hr. + 20 hours at \$5/hr).
- 3. Payment for the "short fall" of family service hours shall be made within 10 business days after receiving an invoice from the School. If payment is not timely made, the Principal is empowered to utilize whatever reasonable and necessary means he or she deems appropriate to enforce compliance with this policy. This includes, but is not limited to, the following:
 - (a) A student whose family has not complied with this policy (either by hours or timely payment for "short fall" of hours) will not be accepted for enrollment in the School for the next following school year, without written permission from the Principal;
 - (b) A family who does not comply with this policy will automatically give up its reserved place for its child(ren) for subsequent school years, unless they have received a written exception from the Principal.
- 4. Each family is responsible for documenting or otherwise recording their service hours. The Principal shall have available at his office appropriate documentation for recording such service hours, which documents shall be provided to any parent, upon request at the Principal's office.
- 5. Service on committees, including chairing a committee, or liaison services to other committees, shall be included as family service hours. This would include service on the Advisory Council, Home and School Association Council, and the committees formed by or with the approval of the Advisory Council or the Principal.
 - 6. Parents/Guardians who choose to perform service hours are considered volunteers. As such, they are required by diocesan policy to abide by the following:
 - a. All volunteers are required to complete the Volunteer Ministry Application and to provide the names and contact information for 3 references who can comment on the applicant's volunteer history and abilities. References will be contacted by the school.
 - b. All volunteers are required to authorize a criminal background check, sign the Diocesan Code of Conduct, and complete Safe Environment Training. Safe Environment training is required of all volunteers, both new and experienced.
 - 7. To be excused from this policy, in whole or in part, there must be a written approval signed by the Principal. No family shall rely upon any verbal authorization to provide less than the 40 service hours or to fail to make payments for the service hours, as provided for by this policy.
 - 8. Families who withdraw before the end of the school year are expected to complete a prorated number of service hours.

66

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #11

St. Joseph Facility Use

This policy establishes priorities for the use of the SJCS facilities.

Policy:

Parish supported and outside activities will be scheduled after School requirements have been satisfied.

After parish and outside activities have been scheduled, they will not be bumped for School requirements without the written approval of the Principal.

Definitions:

Facilities. SJCS facilities include the Marian Center, approved sport fields, playground, cafeteria-kitchen, and classrooms.

Outside activities. Groups, organizations, activities or people that are not sponsored by or are part of the school. Examples would include the YMCA.

Parish activities. This would include groups, organizations, activities or people sponsored by our parishes. This would include such things as sacramental preparation classes.

School. Groups, organizations, activities or people that are sponsored by or are part of the school. This would include the school band.

Priorities: The following scheduling priorities are established as a guideline for the administration.

- 1. The School.
- 2. Activities or groups sponsored by supporting parishes.
- 3. Outside activities.

Procedures:

Scheduling procedures and requirements will be as determined by the administration.

The School will conform to any existing Diocesan policy.

Fees:

A fee will be required for outside groups to use SJCS facilities. The fee amount will be revised and approved by the Advisory Council on an as needed basis. The Advisory Council will also develop and revise as required a property damage procedure and fee.

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #12

Use of Alcoholic Drinks

This policy complements the Diocese of Fort Worth Policy #3.18, *Policy on Use of Alcohol*, dated 1 July 93 and Revised 1 July 95.

Policy:

- 1. No alcohol will be served in violation of Diocesan Policy #3.18.
- 2. Alcoholic beverages shall not be sold or served on School property or during School functions.

EXCEPTION TO POLICY

- 1. Beer and wine may be served at adult-only functions sponsored by the School and held on School property subject to the following conditions:
 - a. food must be served when alcohol is available; and
 - b. soft drinks will be provided when alcohol is available.

The School's administration will develop and approve written procedures governing the serving of alcohol at adult-only functions sponsored by the School.

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #13

STUDENT RECORDS POLICY

St. Joseph Catholic School reserves the right to withhold all student records until all financial obligations to the school are resolved to the satisfaction of the Administration.

St. Joseph Catholic School OFFICIAL POLICY #14

POLICY FOR HOME AND SCHOOL MEMBERSHIP AND DUES

Participation in the SJCS Home and School Association is expected of everyone, for all families benefit from the efforts of HSA. Once a year, HSA dues of \$15.00 per family will be assessed in the month of August.

(End of Official School Policies)

Principal's Regulation MARIAN CENTER SCHEDULING St. Joseph Catholic School

#1

13 OCTOBER 2000

Purpose: To publish the policy for scheduling the Marian Center.

Applicability: This procedure applies to all athletic teams sponsored by the school who play in the Fort Worth Diocesan sports league.

Procedure: This policy is being implemented because the school is responsible to some extent for injuries and property damage incurred while our facilities are being used. Therefore, the administration reserves the right to ensure that only groups that have received approval are using the facilities.

The Marian Center is reserved for school use from 8:00 am to 6:00 pm on school days. All school groups desiring to use this facility at other times must obtain the written approval of the school administration prior to use. After approval, the activity will be listed on the facility schedule, which is maintained by the school office. Subsequently, keys will be provided and implementing instructions will be given.

Scheduling priority will be in accordance with existing school policy that has been adopted by the Advisory Council. No part of this procedure will supersede school or diocesan policy.

Forms to request permission to use the Marian Center are available in the school office.

Principal's Regulation OBLIGATING SCHOOL MONEY St. Joseph Catholic School

#2

16 OCTOBER 2000

<u>Purpose</u>: To specify the policy for expending school funds.

<u>Applicability:</u> This policy applies to all activities (Advisory Council, Home and School, Spiritual Life, Technology, and so on) and all individuals associated with the school in some manner who purchase materials or services for the school.

<u>**Definition**</u>: Obligate – to approve the expenditure of school funds. Once the obligation is approved, this money is not available for other purposes even though the resulting invoice has not yet been paid.

Policy: Only the principal has the authority to obligate school funds.

Procedure: All school activities and individuals who plan to be reimbursed by the school for materials or services that you paid for with your money, must have written approval from the administration prior to buying the materials or services. The school office has the approval form.

St. Joseph is a tax-exempt organization. Obtain a tax exemption form from the office prior to purchasing anything. You will not be reimbursed for sales tax expenses.

When presenting your receipt to the school for reimbursement, you must attach the form showing that the purchase was approved by the administration. If you did not obtain prior written approval from the administration to buy something for the school, the school may not reimburse you. In other words, you may pay the bill yourself.

Principal's Regulation SAFE ENVIRONMENT TRAINING St. Joseph Catholic School

#3

<u>5 May 2014</u>

<u>Purpose</u>: To implement the diocesan policy on Safe Environment Training at St. Joseph Catholic School.

Applicability: This policy applies to all volunteers who are assisting in the school's mission achievement.

Policy: All volunteers are required to attend the Safe Environment Training sponsored by any Fort Worth Diocese entity. A favorably completed background report from the diocese must be on file before any service can be performed. A training session is valid for 2 years. All volunteers must obtain re-certification every 2 years.

Principal's Regulation SOLICITATION FOR THE SCHOOL St. Joseph Catholic School

#4

REVISED: 16 APRIL 2009

Purpose: To publish the policy for school solicitation.

<u>Applicability</u>: This policy applies to all St. Joseph activities that may solicit goods, services or funds for the school.

Background: We have many groups working simultaneously for the benefit of the school. It is important that we control which donors are contacted, who makes the contact, when they are contacted and what they are asked to give. The school's reputation is at stake each time a donor is contacted and asked to contribute to our school. We must plan and coordinate each contact.

This policy is being implemented to ensure that major donors that support our school in any manner and are contacted individually are asked to support only our primary events. We do not want to over use our primary donors. We do want to use them with discretion and ask them to support our most important events.

<u>Policy:</u> Only the event chairs for our primary fundraisers may solicit major donors. All other activities or events requiring support will make a general solicitation of all potential donors.

<u>Procedure</u>: Event chairs will approve and monitor all solicitations made by that event. Questions or concerns about who to solicit and appropriate methods of solicitation should be addressed to the Director of School Development. General solicitations are normally accomplished by using the Thursday folder, sending e-mails to all families and similar methods.

Principal's Regulation RESERVING FACILITIES St. Joseph Catholic School

#5

4 SEPTEMBER 2001

<u>Purpose</u>: To specify the policy for reserving school facilities.

Applicability: This policy applies to anyone who wants to reserve school facilities.

<u>Policy</u>: The following administrative procedures will be followed when scheduling facilities. Scheduling priorities will be in accordance with Official Policy #11, *St. Joseph Facility Use*. The administration reserves the right to reject any request.

Procedure: Activities that are not sponsored by St. Joseph or the Diocese of Fort Worth must provide proof of insurance before the request will receive final approval.

• If a rental fee is accessed, it must be paid prior to use.

Principal's Regulation E-MAIL USE POLICY St. Joseph Catholic School

#6

19 OCTOBER 2001

<u>**Purpose**</u>: To establish the policy for sending e-mail from and to the St. Joseph Catholic School faculty and staff.

<u>Applicability</u>: This policy applies to SJCS faculty, staff, students, and parents who are responsive to the *Parent – Student Handbook* or the *Teacher Handbook*.

Policy: E-mail services that are provided by SJCS for use by our faculty/staff, parents, and students will be used primarily to provide general information, coordinate activities, and plan. This capability **will not** be used in place of dialogue about discipline problems or poor academic performance. These and other similar questions will be addressed only in a conference where a complete and thorough discussion can be conducted.

Procedure:

- In the event that an inappropriate e-mail is received from a parent, teacher, or student, it will be forwarded to the administration for resolution.
- Teachers are required to check their e-mail once a day on school days only. They will respond in three school days if they feel a response is warranted. Teachers are not required to respond to every e-mail and they will not provide recurring progress reports.

This policy will be maintained with the *Parent-Student Handbook* and the *Teacher Handbook*.

Principal's Regulation SPIRIT ITEM PROCEDURES St. Joseph Catholic School #7

9 OCTOBER 2001

Purpose: To establish the policy for ordering, storing, and selling spirit items at SJCS.

Applicability: This policy applies to SJCS faculty, staff, students, and parents who are responsive to the *Parent – Student Handbook* or the *Teacher Handbook*.

Policy: All Spirit Items and funds associated with Spirit Items will be maintained on the campus. Spirit Items will never be shipped to or stored at a private residence.

Procedures:

- Orders for Spirit items will be presented to the principal in writing for approval prior to ordering.
- Careful consideration will be given to the amount of items ordered so that the inventory is either exhausted or nearly exhausted by the end of school.
- All orders for Spirit Items will list St. Joseph as the address to where the items will be shipped/delivered.
- All Spirit Items will be stored on school property in a location directed by the principal.
- Money will be accounted for using school approved forms and procedures.
 Money will be stored in the safe until deposited by the Administration.

This policy will be maintained with the *Parent-Student Handbook* and the *Teacher Handbook*.

Principal's Regulation ATTENDANCE St. Joseph Catholic School

#8

Following is the attendance policy and procedures for St. Joseph Catholic School.

Average daily attendance is based on a 7.5-hour day from 7:50 a.m. -3:20 p.m.

A student must be present in class for two consecutive hours in the morning and two consecutive hours in the afternoon to receive attendance credit for the entire day. If a student is not here for at least two hours between 7:50 a.m. and 11:30 a.m., s/he is absent for half of a day. The same is true in the afternoon: the student must be at school for at least two hours between 11:30 am and 3:20 p.m., or s/he is absent for half a day. Report cards must reflect half-day absences.

Morning tardies are to be documented on the report card also. If a student arrives anytime between 7:50 a.m. and 9:30 a.m., they would be tardy. Arriving after 9:30 am constitutes a half-day absence.

Afternoon tardies are to be documented in the Attendance Register, but not put on the report card.

Make sure the student has checked in or out through the office in order for it to be reflected in the attendance notebook. The office is the official source of tardies and absences. When the student checks into or out of the office, the appropriate records are annotated with a tardy or absence as required.

Attendance Schedule

7:50 – 9:30 a.m.	Tardy (document on report card)
7:50 – 11:30 a.m.	Student absent ½ day if not in class for 2 hours
11:30 – 3:20 p.m.	Student absent ½ day if not in class for 2 hours
1:30 – 3:20 p.m.	Afternoon tardy if student is signed out during this time. (For
_	teacher's record keeping purposes only)

Principal's Regulation TUITION PAYMENT St. Joseph Catholic School

#9

Following is the procedure that St. Joseph Catholic School follows when assessing tuition for new students that enter after the start of school.

- 1. A full tuition will be assessed for all students accepted into St. Joseph between the first day of school and the date that the first progress report is scheduled to be sent home.
- 2. A per diem tuition rate will be assessed for all students that are accepted into St. Joseph after the date of the first progress report but before the end of the year.

Progress report dates are listed on the school calendar and it will be used to determine the date of the first progress report. Students are accepted into St. Joseph after successfully completing the screening process.

Students may start attending class on the date of acceptance or later as coordinated between the family and the administration. Tuition charges start on the date the student is accepted.

Principal's Regulation DONATION ACKNOWLEDGEMENT St. Joseph Catholic School

#10

<u>Purpose</u>: To establish the policy for the proper recognition and acknowledgement of gifts and donations received through fundraising efforts held in the name of St. Joseph Catholic School.

Applicability: This policy applies to all Fundraising Event Chairpersons, Co-Chairpersons, Committee Chairpersons, etc.

Policy: An event database must be maintained containing critical information of donor(s) of cash or goods valued at \$250.00 or more. The complete information will be given to the Development Director no later than 10 days following the conclusion of the event. The Office of Development will then send the proper and required donation acknowledgement as required by IRS statutes. If an excel spreadsheet is not available to the volunteer, a handwritten form will be acceptable in its place.

Procedure:

 Any and all <u>sponsors</u> of a fundraising event should be included in the database regardless of amount donated.

- Donors of goods valued in excess of \$250.00 must be included in the database.
- The following information should be gathered and provided to the Office of Development:
 - o Company Name
 - o Contact or Owner's Name
 - Address
 - o City, State Zip
 - o Email address
 - o Phone Number
 - Amount of donation/gift
 - o Date gift received
 - o Check number or complete description of donation

Principal's Regulation POLICY/PROCEDURES FOR VISITORS TO CAMPUS St. Joseph Catholic School

#11

13 AUGUST 2018

Purpose: To place into writing the policy and procedures for visitors to the school.

Applicability: The policy and procedures below are applicable to every adult, minor or student from other schools.

Policy: Visitors to the school are to be buzzed through the interior doors, once they have communicated the purpose for their visit via the AI Phone device in the front foyer. Once inside, visitors must report to the front office and check-in using the Ident-A-Kid service and receive a visitor's badge.

Procedure:

- 1. A volunteer/visitor/vendor upon entering the building must enter the office and sign in on a computer to obtain a name tag.
- 2. The Ident-a-kid program is available for this requirement. A person clicks on the appropriate icon with the mouse.
- 3. A scanner is used to scan the back of their Driver's License or valid state ID. Note: If the visitor is too young to have an ID, they will be manually issued a visitor badge by the front office.
- 4. The system brings up the person's name and birthdate.
- 5. The person clicks on the "ok" button if all the information on the screen is correct.
- 6. Two questions are answered: where they will be in the building and what function they will perform. A drop-down list of answers is available.
- 7. The "check in" button is selected and this takes a picture of the person and prints it on a name tag.

- 8. The person will then be allowed to enter the interior of the school by office staff buzzing them in.
- 9. The person must return to the front office before they leave the building to check out.
- 10. They select the "Check Out" icon and highlight their name from the list. They click "check out" and "yes" to depart the building.

IMPORTANT - Please Note:

The purpose of the Ident-A-Kid system is to identify known predators or felons and keep them from entering our campus. If the visitor has a record, Ident-A-Kid will note this with an email to office staff and administration, once the Driver's License or state ID is scanned. The office staff has been instructed to not allow the individual to leave the office area. An approved office staff member or administrator must verify the identity of the individual before they are allowed to proceed.

Principal's Regulation NO REFUND FOR REMOTE INSTRUCTION/DISTANCE LEARNING St. Joseph Catholic School

#12

AUGUST 2020

Tuition and mandatory fees have been set regardless of the method of instruction and will not be refunded in the event instruction occurs remotely for any part of an academic year.

This concludes Principal Regulations.

DAILY HOME-BASED SYMPTOM SCREENING

Caregivers: If your child has any of the following symptoms, they might have an illness they can spread to others.

- · Temperature of 100 degrees Fahrenheit or higher or chills
- · Sore throat
- · Cough (for students with chronic cough due to allergies or asthma, a change in their cough from usual)
- · Difficulty breathing (for students with asthma, check for a change from their baseline breathing)
- · Diarrhea or vomiting
- · New onset of severe headache, especially with a fever
- · New to loss of taste or smell
- · Muscle or body aches
- · Fatigue

Check your child for these symptoms before they go to school. Check symptoms for changes from usual or baseline health.

If your child DOES have any of the symptoms above:

- · Keep them home from school
- · Get your child tested for COVID-19.
- · Contact your child's school and report that your child is sick. The school may ask some additional questions to help determine when it is safe for your child to return to school and about other people who may have been exposed.

If your child does NOT have any of the symptoms above:

- · Consider whether your child needs to see a healthcare provider and be tested for COVID-19. Even if they don't have symptoms, your child should be tested if they:
 - have been in close contact with someone with COVID-19, or
 - have taken part in activities that puts them at higher risk for COVID-19 because they cannot physically distance as needed, such as participating in contact sports, attending a gathering with other children or family, or
 - were asked or referred to get testing by...a healthcare provider.
- · For the purposes of these criteria, <u>daycare and school settings</u> that implement multiple <u>prevention strategies</u>, such as universal and correct use of masks and physical distancing to the greatest extent possible, are **not** considered higher risk settings.
- · If they do not have symptoms and do not meet any of the criteria above, send them to school as usual.

*CDC Isolation Guidance (updated May 11, 2023): https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/your-

health/isolation.html#:~:text=If%20you%20test%20positive%20for,unable%20to%20wear%20a%20mask.

COVID-19 PARENTAL/GUARDIAN ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The virus that causes COVID-19 can infect people of all ages. While relatively few children with COVID-19 develop severe symptoms or require hospitalization, some may develop a severe illness.

Even a young person with a mild or even asymptomatic case of COVID-19 can spread the infection to others, including to those who may be more vulnerable.

Reasonable precautions and mitigation measures will be taken based on available guidance. However, some of the protective measures that may be practical for adults are, for a variety of reasons, simply not possible with a wide range of students.

COVID-19 may be spread from person to person by coughing, sneezing, speaking, and even breathing. Some students are likely to occasionally disregard social-distancing guidelines and other mitigation practices, notwithstanding supervision and appropriate sanctions.

Parents and Guardians should monitor the health of their child(ren). DO NOT SEND ANY CHILD TO SCHOOL IF THEY ARE DISPLAYING ANY SYMPTOMS OF COVID-19.

As parent and/or legal guardian of the child, I acknowledge that I am aware of the COVID-19 virus and the risks it poses, and I acknowledge that my child may be exposed to the virus while attending the School. I agree I will not take my child to the School if my child displays any symptoms of COVID-19 or has been exposed to anyone with COVID-19. I will notify the School immediately if my child is exposed or develops symptoms. I agree to comply with rules and directives of the School, and I will actively encourage my child to do the same.

The school has shared with me its COVID-19 Policies above for the 2023-2024 school year, which outlines the steps the school will undertake to help mitigate the exposure to and spread of the COVID-19 virus.

HANDBOOK CONCLUSION

Teachers have individual practices and procedures in their classrooms that may not be covered in this handbook.

Adjustments to procedures in this handbook due to the pandemic of COVID-19 may occur to better maintain the safety of our students.

The administration retains the right to amend the handbook at any time. Parents and students will be given prompt notification if changes are made. In all cases the interpretation of the handbook remains with the administration.

Contact Us

2015 SW Green Oaks Blvd. Arlington, TX 76017

817.419.6800 (office phone) 817.419.7080 (fax)



www.stjosephtx.org (Home page)

Email: info@stjosephtx.org

FACTS SIS Access: https://factsmgt.com/ (School Code: SJC-TX)